
 
 

 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA 
 

Monday, January 27, 2025            6:30 PM                                   City Hall, 
2nd Floor Council Chambers 

 
A. AGENDA ITEMS 

 
1) Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
2) Election of Chair, Vice Chair, & Steering Committee 
 
3) Minutes of Previous Meeting – December 16, 2024 
 
4) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 
 
5) Public Hearings 

 
a) PB-2024-21 – 2-lot Subdivision – 141 Old Walpole Road –Applicant and owner, 

James A. Craig, proposes to subdivide the ~32.17-ac parcel at 141 Old Walpole Rd 
(TMP #503-006-000) into two lots ~24.61-ac and 7.56-ac in size. The parcel is located 
in the Rural District. 

 
b) PB-2024-22 – 2-lot Subdivision – Monadnock Conservancy, 0 Ashuelot St – 

Applicant BCM Environmental & Land Law PLLC, on behalf of owner JRR Properties 
LLC, proposes to subdivide the ~3.53-ac parcel at 0 Ashuelot St (TMP #567-001-000) 
into two lots ~2.45-ac and ~1.09-ac in size. The parcel is located in the Commerce 
District. 

 
c) PB-2024-23 – Major Site Plan & Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit – 

Shooting Range, 19 Ferry Brook Rd – Applicant SVE Associates, on behalf of owner 
Cheshire County Shooting Sports Education Foundation Inc., proposes to modify the 
approved site plan for the shooting range at 19 Ferry Brook Rd (TMP #214-021-000) 
to include a gravel shooting berm and an area of constructed wetlands on the southern 
portion of the site. A Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit is requested to 
allow the berm and other existing site features to be located within the 75’ surface 
water buffer. The parcel is 55-ac in size and is located in the Rural District. 

 
6) Keene State College Master Plan Presentation – Nathalie Houder & Colin Burdick 
 
7) Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/)  
 

1 of 82

https://keenemasterplan.com/


8) Planning Board Meeting Schedule – Request to reschedule the September meeting date

9) Staff Updates
a) Overview of Administrative and Minor Project approvals issued in 2024.

10) New Business

11) Upcoming Dates of Interest
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – February 10, 6:30 PM
• Planning Board Steering Committee – February 11, 11:00 AM
• Planning Board Site Visit –February 19 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed
• Planning Board Meeting – February 24, 6:30 PM

12) MORE TIME ITEMS

1. Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Landscaping, & 
Screening

13) ADJOURNMENT

2 of 82



City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

3 
4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

7 
Monday, December 16, 2024 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 

           City Hall 8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair 
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy 
Kenneth Kost 

Members Not Present:  
Randyn Markelon, Alternate
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 

9 

I) Call to Order10 
11 

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken 12 
13 

II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – November 25, 202414 
15 

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni to approve the November 25, 2024, meeting 16 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Mayor Jay Kahn was unanimously approved. 17 

18 
III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals19 

20 
Chair Farrington stated as a matter of practice, the Board will now issue a final vote on all 21 
conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have been met. 22 
This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 23 
The Chair asked whether there were any applications tonight that were ready for a final vote. 24 

3 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 2 of 15 
 

 25 
Senior Planner Mari Brunner stated there were two applications ready for final vote. 26 
 27 
Ms. Brunner stated the first application was PB-2024-13 – A two-lot subdivision for Habitat for 28 
Humanity at 0 Old Walpole Road. 29 
 30 
The conditions included were as follows: Owner’s signature appears on the plan,  inspection of 31 
lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee, subdivision approval from New 32 
Hampshire DES (the site is a lot that is less than five acres in size with no city sewer), Submittal 33 
of four full size paper copies and two mylar copies of the plans, and submittal of a check to cover 34 
the cost of recording fees. 35 
 36 
Ms. Brunner stated that all of the conditions have been met. 37 
 38 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board issue final approval for 39 
PB-2024-13. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and carried on a unanimous vote. 40 

 41 
Ms. Brunner stated the second application was PB-2024-16 – a Site Plan for the construction of a 42 
new building at the Kia site located at 440 Winchester Street. 43 
 44 
The application had several conditions of approval: Owner’s signature; Submittal of five paper 45 
copies and a digital copy of the final plans; Submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment 46 
and erosion control measures, landscaping and an as built plan; Submittal of an updated grading 47 
plan with a note added stating annual drainage inspections shall be performed and that such 48 
documentation will be submitted to the Community Development Department. 49 
 50 
Ms. Brunner stated there was one final condition of approval that has not been met, but after 51 
consultation with the City Attorney, staff does not feel that it does need to be met. It is Condition 52 
1e.  53 
Submittal of draft easement language and any other legal instruments required for this 54 
application to the Community Development Department for review by the City Attorney's Office. 55 
 56 
Ms. Brunner stated the intention of that condition was due to the fact that access to the site is off 57 
of an adjacent property. Typically, the Planning Board would require some sort of access 58 
easement to show that the Applicant is able to get access to their site from the adjoining site. In 59 
this instance, both sites are owned by the same owner, who cannot give an easement to themself. 60 
 61 
She stated if the Board wanted to, it is possible for a condition to be added that says if and when 62 
the parcel is sold in the future, an easement should be added. Staff felt a condition like this is 63 
vague and difficult to enforce. At this point Staff’s suggestion is to delete that condition. 64 
 65 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board issue final approval for 66 
PB-2024-16, 440 Winchester Street. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 67 

 68 

4 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 3 of 15 
 

Chair Farrington asked for comments from the Board regarding the waiving of the requirement 69 
for an easement. 70 

 71 
Mr. Kost asked for clarification if the easement is not addressed now, and if the property is ever 72 
sold separately, an agreement would be worked out so a new owner would have access to the 73 
property. Mr. Kost stated that the property won’t have any value if an owner can’t access it.  74 
 75 
Chair Farrington answered that if the property is sold, he is sure access to the property would be 76 
put into the sales agreement. 77 
 78 
The motion carried on a unanimous vote. 79 
 80 
 81 
 82 
 83 

IV) Public Hearing  84 
          a. PB-2024-18 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit – 133 Roxbury St - Applicant 85 
Unicron Management, on behalf of owner Mahantrashti Real Estate LLC, proposes the 86 
conversion of an illegal 7-unit building at 133 Roxbury St (TMP #569-099-000) into four units. 87 
The parcel is 0.25-ac in size and is located in the High-Density District. 88 
 89 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 90 
 91 
Planner Megan Fortson stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a grading 92 
plan, drainage report, traffic analysis, soil analysis, historic evaluation, and screening analysis. 93 
After reviewing each request, Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the 94 
requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend 95 
that the Board accepts the application as complete. 96 
 97 
Councilor Remy stated it seems like a grading analysis may be required and may be 98 
recommended as a condition of approval. He questioned if this site would need a grading plan in 99 
the future, why a submission of a grading plan would be waived. Ms. Brunner stated 100 
occasionally an applicant may request a waiver of a grading plan and Staff determine their 101 
request to be acceptable. Upon further review, this Board may determine that a grading plan 102 
might be necessary. She indicated the Board could always wait until a grading and drainage plan 103 
is submitted before opening the public hearing and accepting the application as complete. Ms. 104 
Brunner clarified that the Board will not be able to open the Public Hearing until there is a 105 
completeness vote. Ms. Brunner stated that because the Board can require additional 106 
information, Staff still recommend that the application be accepted as complete and then 107 
determine if additional information is needed. Ms. Brunner stated if the Board feels it already has 108 
enough information that a grading plan is warranted then it is up to the Board to determine a 109 
completeness vote. 110 
 111 
Councilor Remy stated he did not want to comment on the merits of the application, but looking 112 
at the location of the site being within a floodplain and the potential modifications to the parking 113 
within that floodplain, he questioned how the Board could go without a drainage and grading 114 

5 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 4 of 15 
 

plan. Chair Farrington stated in reading the agenda package, it seemed clear that a drainage and 115 
grading plan was likely going to be required. Ms. Brunner stated in the initial submission, the 116 
applicant was not planning to make any changes to grading, which is why there wasn’t a grading 117 
plan submitted with the initial application. She stated she would still recommend accepting the 118 
application as complete and opening the public hearing, because the Board can always require 119 
that information if needed. Ms. Brunner  stated, again, the decision is under the purview of the 120 
Board if the members feel they will need the information from a drainage and grading plan 121 
before reviewing the application. 122 
 123 
Councilor Remy stated he is okay with the Board voting either to accept the application as 124 
complete or not to accept the application as complete, but the clock for approval or denial will 125 
begin if the Board accepts the application as complete.  126 
 127 
Mayor Kahn stated that the proposed project could have an impact on abutting properties, and he 128 
stated he hoped abutters are here. 129 
 130 
Chair Farrington clarified he is sure the applicant is at the meeting and the abutters who wanted 131 
to be are also in attendance.   132 
 133 
Chair Farrington stated he was inclined to go forward with completeness but was happy to hear 134 
other input. 135 
 136 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Board accept PB-2024-18 as complete. 137 
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 138 
 139 
B. Public Hearing 140 
 141 
Mr. Michael Petrovick, Architect of Michael Petrovick Architects, addressed the Board. Mr. 142 
Petrovick stated their proposed project is to take the building, which contains seven 143 
nonconforming units, and operate it as a four-unit building. He stated he and his colleagues have 144 
been working with Staff on this application. Mr. Petrovick stated that he and Staff have 145 
developed a plan to legally operate the building as a four-unit building with places of egress. In 146 
order to have four units, the site needs to provide adequate parking. The issue around the grading 147 
plan just came up a couple days ago. Staff recently realized—after assuring that the building was 148 
not in the floodplain— that a portion of the parking area was in the floodplain. 149 
 150 
As a result, Staff have stated that a condition of the building permit will now be to create a 151 
grading plan, which protects the neighboring properties from runoff. A grading plan will be 152 
created using a civil engineer and submitted with the building permit application. 153 
 154 
Mr. Petrovick stated the applicant seeks to rectify a very serious problem in that building, in 155 
which the building is in poor condition. The owner has recognized the issues and is supportive of 156 
moving forward with addressing these issues. The applicant’s management company is Unicron, 157 
who is the applicant and representative of the building. Mr. Petrovick stated that this application 158 
seeks to provide housing in the City and fix a problem that has been a bit of a headache for the 159 
City. 160 

6 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 5 of 15 
 

 161 
Mr. Petrovick went on to say a five-space parking area would be created off Harrison Street. The 162 
snow removal area needs to be looked at because of the grading plan. There will be two units in 163 
the front of the building and two units at the rear of the building. One unit will be on the first 164 
floor in the front, which is a two bedroom, and one unit on the front on the second floor, and two 165 
two-bedroom units at the back of the building. There will be one extra parking spot on site above 166 
the four required spots. There will be a closed-in area for a dumpster and there will be lighting. 167 
The building will be accessed through the front of the building or through the existing porch on 168 
the side. The porch will be repaired and cleaned-up. The building will be painted, and new 169 
windows will also be added to the site. There will be egress through all the existing doors. No 170 
new entrances need to be created.  171 
There will be no change to the building footprint architecturally. 172 
 173 
Mayor Kahn asked what the change in conditions are that required this item to be brought 174 
forward. Mr. Petrovick stated there were some issues in the building, which were brought to the 175 
city’s attention. City staff then went out to look at the building when it was determined that that 176 
building needed to be brought up to compliance. Mr. Petrovick introduced the property manager.  177 
 178 
Ms. Erin Connor of Unicorn Management, 4 Terrace Street Marlborough addressed the Board. 179 
Ms. Connor stated the issues with the existing conditions of the building were brought to her 180 
attention when she took over management in April and performed an inspection of the house. 181 
Ms. Connor realized the dire state the building was in and went over the problems with City 182 
Staff. Ms. Connor contacted the owner and stressed the need to bring the building up to code. 183 
 184 
The Mayor clarified the shrinkage of the number of occupants in the building is a part of that 185 
overall plan. Ms. Connor agreed and added when she came on board there were seven 186 
apartments—one being unoccupied. She has evicted two full apartments. Only three are being 187 
occupied currently, and the occupied units would be retained as such until the renovation process 188 
begins. Ms. Connor clarified that three units is what the building is zoned for.  189 
The plan is to empty the building eventually and subsequently renovate every single apartment 190 
with new appliances, floors, windows, etc. Then, Ms. Connor would start over with new tenants. 191 
The proposed project would result in making the building a four-unit house.  192 
 193 
Ms. Vezzani asked whether there were seven bathrooms in the building and if these seven 194 
bathrooms would remain. Ms. Connor answered in the negative. There would be four bathrooms. 195 
Ms. Vezzani asked about lead paint. Specifically, Ms. Vezzani asked if all the surfaces are being 196 
redone,  197 
will any of the existing lead paint be left in the building. Ms. Connor stated she is looking at 198 
putting siding on the building as opposed to painting, but if they do paint, it will be painted by a 199 
lead-certified company. All new windows and doors will be added. The existing walls will be 200 
painted with fresh paint. 201 
 202 
Mr. Kost referred to page 31 and noted the diagram looks like it shows the floodway right across 203 
the back of the building. Mr. Petrovick stated that recently, Staff re-certified the building is not 204 
in the floodplain and added that diagram is not up to date. Mr. Petrovick further clarified that 205 

7 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 6 of 15 
 

Staff certified  the building is not in the floodway, but the parking area is in a floodway. Staff 206 
agreed to this. 207 
 208 
Mr. Clancy asked if each unit also had a kitchen. Ms. Connor said they did.  209 
 210 
Councilor Remy asked whether the applicant was open to adding more screening. Mr. Petrovick 211 
stated they have been asked to trim down the hedges by Staff. Mr. Petrovick stated there is a 212 
sight line issue, and the hedges are also obstructing a City sidewalk. The Applicant had planned 213 
to maintain the existing fences; however, the fences belong to the neighboring property. 214 
Councilor Remy stated that having two fences that face each other would not be necessary.  215 
 216 
Mr. Kost stated that the Cottage Court Overlay District requires screening; however, for lower-217 
density housing that may be developed with small roads, using screening may cause less 218 
uniform-looking developments than the screening requirement intends. 219 
 220 
Mayor Kahn referred to the Harrison Street sidewalk, which is indicated in the staff report as not 221 
being safe due to the ponding of water. Mayor Kahn asked how the sidewalk improvements are 222 
going to be handled. Mr. Petrovick stated this is one of the issues that will be addressed with the 223 
grading of the parking. An engineer will be used to grade the parking properly, which will 224 
correct the ponding on City property. 225 
 226 
Mayor Kahn noted when the City created a Cottage Court Overlay District, this was not the kind 227 
of project that was envisioned. Mayor Kahn stated he guessed that this is an area in which multi-228 
family housing is part of the zoning and asked what it is about this site that makes it appropriate 229 
for a Cottage Court overlay. Mr. Petrovick stated under Cottage Court, the applicant could get an 230 
additional housing unit. He stated it was suggested to them by staff to take the Cottage Court 231 
approach. 232 
 233 
Mr. Petrovick continued by stating the building  is big. The reality of the situation is that having 234 
three big units, which are more expensive, would be less desirable than having four smaller units 235 
that both cost less in rent and provide more housing. He restated that the current multi-family 236 
zoning,  would only allow three units. 237 
 238 
The Mayor restated this to clarify that the number of units is what optimizes the use of the 239 
property for the Cottage Court overlay as opposed to the current multi-family zoning. 240 
 241 
The Chair asked for staff comments next. Ms. Fortson, Planner, stated the subject parcel is about 242 
a quarter of an acre in size with its primary frontage along Roxbury Street. Ms. Fortson indicated 243 
that Under the Land Development Code, the primary frontage for a corner lot is determined as 244 
the shortest length of frontage. Roxbury Street, where the front of the building faces, is the 245 
primary frontage, not Harrison Street. As was explained, the building on its tax card is approved 246 
to operate as a three-unit apartment building, but it has most recently been operating as an illegal 247 
seven-unit building. To come into compliance with the Land Development Code requirements 248 
and more with the City code, given the existing issues that are known on the site, the property 249 
owner and applicant are proposing to convert the inside of the building into four units. 250 
 251 

8 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 7 of 15 
 

Ms. Fortson went on to say the notable features on the site include the existing parking area, 252 
which is going to be expanded into five parking spaces. There is an existing dumpster to the 253 
south of the building and an 8’x8’ storage shed at the southeastern portion of the site.  254 
 255 
Ms. Fortson then addressed the Mayor’s question related to why the Cottage Court process 256 
would be the most appropriate for this application. The property is located in the high-density 257 
district, and the lot is about a quarter of an acre (10,890 square feet) in size. For the applicant to 258 
have four units total on this site, the applicant would need to have 6,000 square feet for the first 259 
primary residence and then an additional 5,000 square feet for each additional unit. In total, for 260 
all four units, the property would be required to have a 21,000 square foot lot, whereas this lot is 261 
slightly under 11,000 square feet. Under the Cottage Court process, an applicant can get 262 
increased density in the high-density district without having to have that bigger lot size. There is 263 
currently an ordinance going through the review process to remove that density factor of 5,000 264 
square feet for each additional unit, but that is probably not going to be adopted until around 265 
February. Ms. Fortson stated applicants are applying for conversion of existing buildings using 266 
this process, because it is a way for applicants and property owners to be able to have that extra 267 
density without having to get a variance from the zoning board. 268 
 269 
Ms. Fortson went on to say there is an existing walkway that can be used to access this site from 270 
Roxbury Street. The applicant is proposing to extend that walkway and connect it to the new 271 
parking area. Because there are fewer than five units that are proposed to be created, the project 272 
does not meet the threshold for major site plan review. Planning staff have made the preliminary 273 
determination that the project doesn’t meet the thresholds to be reviewed as a development of 274 
regional impact, but the Board will need to make a final determination regarding regional impact.  275 
 276 
With respect to departmental comments, Ms. Fortson stated the City Engineer did have concern 277 
regarding ponding in the parking area adjacent to Harrison Street. Hence, the re-grading of the 278 
parking area was recommended and requested by Staff. In addition, while the applicant is going 279 
to be maintaining the existing hedge, it is overgrown on the Roxbury and Harrison Street sides of 280 
the property. City Staff were concerned that traffic exiting the site did not have safe-sight 281 
distances from vehicles that might be traveling on Harrison or Roxbury Street. The hedges are 282 
being proposed to be lowered, and the hedges will be maintained.  283 
 284 
Ms. Fortson stated that City Staff said that if the recommendations by the City Engineer’s office 285 
were to be put into play, this application would require a flood plain development permit. Ms. 286 
Fortson stated this is separate from the Board’s review of this application, but it is something the 287 
Board should be aware of. Ms. Fortson noted there is a difference between the floodway and the 288 
floodplain. The floodway is part of the floodplain and is more likely to experience flooding. 289 
When the floodplain manager reviews this application, what he is going to be looking for is that 290 
there is no net loss in the storage area of the compensatory flood storage on the site. 291 
 292 
Ms. Fortson next reviewed the applicable standards:  293 
Development Types - The applicant is proposing to redevelop the site as a four unit building 294 
managed by a property management entity. This standard has been met. 295 
 296 

9 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 8 of 15 
 

Dimensional Standards – The site complies with all height requirements. The height requirement 297 
of the high-density district is three stories. The applicant complies with this standard. The site 298 
also complies with the 15-foot rear set back and the 10-foot side set back standard. 299 
 300 
Density – The density standard is one unit per 1/16th of an acre or 16 units per acre.  This 301 
standard appears to be met. 302 
 303 
Dwelling Unit Size - The size of the units will range from 510 square feet, the smallest unit size, 304 
to 1,620 square feet, the maximum unit size, which creates a maximum average unit size of 305 
900.25 square feet of gross floor area. Ms. Fortson noted this section of the code says that 306 
cottage units created as part of the cottage court process can have a maximum average size of 307 
1,250 square feet of gross floor area and a max building footprint of 900 square feet. This 308 
standard is met. 309 
 310 
Parking – The Applicant is providing five parking spaces. For this standard, you can have a 311 
minimum of one parking space per unit provided or a maximum of one parking space per 312 
bedroom provided. With a total of eight bedrooms, they are between the four to eight spaces 313 
allowed on the site. 314 
 315 
Driveway – This driveway is for two-way traffic, which allows for a minimum driveway width 316 
of 20 feet and a maximum driveway width of 24 feet. The applicant’s existing driveway is 317 
slightly wider than the standard at 26 feet wide. The Applicant is not proposing to change the 318 
width as part of this application. The travel aisle for the parking area is going to be a little over 319 
23 feet wide, which complies with the 22-foot-wide travel aisle requirements for 90° parking. 320 
 321 
Screening – There are existing hedges that run along the western and northern portions of the 322 
property that are going to be maintained and trimmed.  As was mentioned, there is an existing 323 
fence along the eastern property line and the southern property line. Ms. Fortson stated Staff 324 
recommends the Board include a recommended condition of approval related to the submittal of 325 
an updated proposed conditions plan showing the appropriate property line and fence locations 326 
prior to the issuance of final approval. Ms. Fortson noted that since the date of the staff report, 327 
this condition has been met. The applicant has removed the fences that were shown on the plan. 328 
 329 
Architectural Guidelines – This standard is not applicable, given the fact that the Applicant’s 330 
proposal is considered ordinary maintenance and repair, and the Applicant has stated that they 331 
are not going to be making any changes to the architectural features of the building.  332 
 333 
Ms. Fortson next addressed the Planning Board site development standards next. 334 
 335 
Drainage and Stormwater Management – There is an existing ponding point on the rear portion 336 
of the site. In addition, this site’s existing grading is such that it would drain towards the rear of 337 
the property, potentially onto the adjacent parcel at 16 Harrison Street. As a result, Staff 338 
recommend the Board include submittal of a grading and drainage report as one of the precedent 339 
conditions of approval as well as an approved floodplain development permit application as part 340 
of the parking lot changes.  341 
 342 

10 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 9 of 15 
 

Snow Storage and Removal – The snow storage area is located at the southeastern corner of the 343 
property, but this is where the water is going to drain onto the neighbor’s property to the south.  344 
Again, Staff recommend that this be addressed as part of the grading plan that is submitted, 345 
which would be reviewed by the City Engineer’s office.  346 
 347 
Landscaping – No landscaping is being proposed to be installed as part of the application, and 348 
the existing mature tree and hedge will be maintained. 349 
 350 
Screening – The project narrative states that there is not going to be any new mechanical 351 
equipment installed on the exterior of the building. The existing dumpster is going to be screened 352 
by either a wooden or PVC fence. The site itself will be screened by the existing hedge. The 353 
standard appears to be met. 354 
 355 
Lighting – There are eight new wall pack light fixtures that are proposed to be installed along the 356 
western building façade facing Harrison Street. The proposed light fixtures’ cut sheet that was 357 
submitted complies with the standard, as it was fully cut off and it had the correct color 358 
temperature. That standard appears to be met. 359 
 360 
Sewer or Water – No changes are being proposed. 361 
 362 
Traffic and Access Management – The expected traffic generation would be reduced, due to the 363 
number of units going from seven to four. Any increase in traffic that would come from going 364 
from the three approved units to a fourth unit is expected to be very minor. 365 
 366 
Filling and Excavation – To assess this standard, the Applicant will need to submit a floodplain 367 
development permit for this project, which was mentioned previously. 368 
 369 
Surface Waters and Wetlands – The City database did not show the presence of surface waters or 370 
wetlands. This standard isn’t applicable. 371 
 372 
Ms. Fortson stated there isn’t supposed to be any overall change to the visual appearance of the 373 
building. Ms. Fortson noted when the Board makes a motion, item 1C, regarding the issue of 374 
fencing, can be removed. Fencing has been addressed by the applicant.  375 
 376 
This concluded staff comments.  377 
 378 
Mr. Clancy asked when the engineering report was submitted, and he noted it has been pretty dry 379 
in this area. Ms. Fortson stated it was submitted as part of the initial application. Ms. Fortson 380 
added that if you look at google images, there is a large hole on the Harrison side of the property. 381 
Staff, in an effort not to impact the city’s infrastructure, are requesting that the Applicant make 382 
the repairs to that area. 383 
 384 
Chair Farrington clarified there is an existing curb cut on the Harrison Street side and asked if 385 
that curb cut is the only one and if that is going to change. Ms. Fortson answered that the existing 386 
curb cut would remain and there would be no additional curb cuts.  The Chair noted engineering 387 
comments use the terminology “driveway reclaimed” and asked if this means taking the 388 

11 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 10 of 15 
 

driveway up. Ms. Fortson stated she assumes this means taking up what is there right now, re-389 
grading it and repaving it to ensure there is not going to be any runoff. 390 
 391 
Mayor Kahn noted the proposal calls for each apartment to have a full kitchen and full bathroom. 392 
However, the bath in the second-floor unit appears to be very small. He stated he did not want to 393 
question what size it is, but there is a statement on page 42, “built as proposed with full kitchen 394 
and full bathroom, which seems like an important condition to the approval of four units. 395 
 396 
Mr. Petrovick stated, as an architect, he can assure the Board the bathrooms would be 397 
comfortable in size. He stated the plans are very schematic, and everything that is going to be 398 
submitted will meet the building code. The Mayor asked whether a condition could be added to 399 
reflect this item. 400 
 401 
Ms. Fortson asked if the Mayor is asking to add a condition of approval related to how the 402 
interior of the building is going to be laid out. Ms. Fortson continued by stating the Planning 403 
Board’s purview relates to the building exterior. She stated Mr. Petrovick is correct, and the 404 
Applicant will have to submit a building permit application for any of the renovations being 405 
proposed to the building. As part of that review process, because the property is a commercial 406 
property, Planning Staff are automatically sent copies of the plans. If staff had any concerns 407 
about what was shown on the plans, Staff would coordinate with the applicant to get those 408 
questions answered. Planning Staff do not review any of the interior changes, they just review 409 
the exterior changes.  410 
 411 
Ms. Fortson continued by clarifying the interior modifications are addressed through the building 412 
permit and building code process. Life safety standards are reviewed by the city’s building 413 
official and Fire Marshall. 414 
 415 
The Mayor felt if this proposed project was only concerned with the use of the building as three 416 
versus four units, it would be a moot point. When the applicant is trying to get four units within 417 
the building, and this is the condition on which the Cottage Court is being used, it has to be built 418 
in order to accommodate four units. Ms. Fortson stated this is a great concern to think about but 419 
indicated the interior of the building is out of the Planning Board’s purview. Once you get to the 420 
interiors of a building, it must be handled by the City’s building official. 421 
 422 
Ms. Brunner further clarified that the Board does not have the ability to put a condition like that 423 
on an application, as the Board is just approving the use, changes to the site, and minor changes 424 
to the exterior of the building.  Ms. Brunner agreed this a great conversation to have because the 425 
Cottage Court part of the use it is about the number of units. Ms. Brunner agreed with where the 426 
Mayor is coming from here. She stated the Board needs to be careful about looking at what falls 427 
under the Board’s purview. She stated the building permit review process in Keene is rigorous, 428 
and the applicant must submit a professionally prepared plan, which goes through the plan 429 
review process. Once that is completed, Staff conduct inspections during key points of 430 
construction. Staff have eyes on the project from inception to finish. 431 
 432 
Ms. Vezzani asked whether there are requirements to make sure there is no lead paint in the 433 
building. Ms. Brunner stated there are disclosure requirements. If someone is going to rent a 434 

12 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 11 of 15 
 

house that has led paint in it, you must disclose that to your tenants. She stated there have been 435 
landlords in the city that have had tenants with a young child who tested for high lead exposure 436 
and then have had to do remediation. She indicated full lead remediation is very expensive, and it 437 
is difficult for landlords to proactively remediate lead. She stated this is a huge problem in the 438 
city because the city has very old housing stock. Specifically, there are a lot of houses with lead 439 
paint and a lot of old apartment buildings with lead paint. It is a big struggle for landlords, and 440 
even landlords who are trying to be proactive and do the right thing have a difficult time. What is 441 
often done is lead remediation on the outside of a building and not the interior, and then interior 442 
lead paint is addressed on a case-by-case basis. Ms. Vezzani noted kids don't usually eat the 443 
outside of the building. Ms. Brunner suggested it is a good thing the applicant is replacing the 444 
windows, because the windows are usually one of the likely places for lead paint to be located. 445 
 446 
The Chair asked for public comment, and with no comments from the public, the Chair closed 447 
the public hearing. 448 
 449 
C. Board Discussion and Action 450 
 451 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-18 as 452 
shown on the plan set identified as “Conditional Use Permit” prepared by Michael Petrovick 453 
Architects, PLCC at varying scales on November 7, 2024, and last revised on December 13, 454 
2024, with the following conditions:  455 
1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 456 
precedent shall be met:  457 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  458 
b. Submittal of five (5) full sized paper copies of the final signed plan set.  459 
c. Submittal of existing and proposed grading & drainage plans prepared by an engineer 460 

licensed in the State of NH subject to review and approval by the City Engineer’s Office.  461 
 462 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 463 
condition shall be met:  464 

a. Prior to the commencement of parking lot modifications, the submittal of an approved 465 
Floodplain Development Permit, if deemed necessary by the Floodplain Manager. 466 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. 467 
 468 
Councilor Remy stated he agrees that this application does not have regional impact. He stated 469 
he believes the building code will prevent this building from reverting to the seven illegal units 470 
in the future. He stated he likes the proposal being presented to the Board. The Councilor stated 471 
he hoped the architect and applicant would work on a good plan for the interior as well. 472 
 473 
Ms. Vezzani stated she is happy to see the repairs happening to the building. She stated reducing 474 
the units to four is a good idea, and the grading being completed is a good idea.  475 
 476 
Councilor Remy asked to see a copy of the grading plan once it has been reviewed by staff.  477 
 478 
Mayor Kahn complimented the property manager for following through with the issues that exist 479 
in this building. He stated he hoped staff would properly review the building plans and make 480 

13 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 12 of 15 
 

sure they are complied with. He also complimented the architect who is working on this 481 
building.  482 
 483 
Ms. Vezzani stated she was comfortable moving forward with this application based on the 484 
proposed conditions.  485 
 486 
Mr. Clancy stated the modifications being made to the site and the management company 487 
agreeing to complete a grading plan and reclaiming the driveway makes him comfortable with 488 
moving forward. Mr. Clancy stated this is CIP season, especially on Harrison Street with a 489 
slightly raised sidewalk , no curbing, and poor conditions of other sidewalks in the 490 
neighborhood.  Mr. Clancy stated if the City is going to require poor driveway conditions to be 491 
improved, when the CIP comes forward, a little more effort needs to be put into improving 492 
sidewalks that connect to those driveways as well.  493 
 494 
Mr. Kost asked if vinyl siding is used on the exterior, would  the lead paint be covered over? Ms. 495 
Brunner answered in the affirmative and stated once you touch it, the lead paint can start 496 
spreading.  497 
 498 
Mr. Clancy asked whether there should be a condition in the motion to keep the shrubbery along 499 
the sidewalk maintained and kept off city property. Councilor Remy stated he likes what Mr. 500 
Clancy is proposing but wasn’t sure if it needs to be maintained as the city will cut it down if it 501 
impacts the sidewalk. The Chair felt this might be an overreach for the Planning Board.  502 
 503 
The motion made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni carried on a unanimous vote.  504 
 505 
 506 

V) Advice and Comment Regarding Potential for Regional Impact – Justin Daigneault 507 
of Granite Engineering, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings, LLC, requests Planning Board 508 
consideration regarding the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55 for a 509 
proposed expansion of the gravel pit operation at 57 Route 9 (project EXP-01-22). The property 510 
is ~84.7 acres and is in the Rural District. 511 
 512 
Mr. Justin Daigneault of Granite Engineering, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings, LLC addressed 513 
the Board next.  Mr. Daigneault stated he has a project that he would like to present to the Board 514 
for the expansion of the existing gravel pit on Tax Map 215 Lot 7. He explained that this was a 515 
gravel pit, which was permitted in 2022. Mr. Daigneault stated the owner is at the point where he 516 
needs to expand the operation. 517 
 518 
Mr. Daigneault stated the reason for the regional impact is that the expansion is on the owner’s 519 
two northern lots, which are located in Sullivan. The lot in Keene, Tax Map 215 Lot 7, is 520 
bordered by the Town of Sullivan, and there are two lots adjacent to that. The applicant owns 521 
Map 5, Lot 46 and Map 5, Lot 46-1. The intent of the proposed project is to expand into 522 
Sullivan. 523 
 524 
Councilor Remy reviewed the definition for Regional Impact as follows: 525 

14 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 13 of 15 
 

It could be reasonably expected to have impact on a neighboring municipality because of 526 
proximity to the borders of the neighboring community. He noted the review is required even if 527 
the city has a doubt that there could be regional impact. He added that the Town of Sullivan and 528 
Southwest Regional Planning Commission have abutter status on this application.  529 
 530 
Mayor Kahn asked if the applicant was also going before the Town of Sullivan. Mr. Daigneault 531 
stated they would be filing an excavation permit with the Town of Sullivan as well. 532 
The Mayor asked what product is being excavated on the site.  Mr. Daigneault stated it is a 533 
combination of gravel and bedrock. The Mayor clarified this is an expansion with more materials 534 
coming off the site and more vehicles introduced to the site. He added there were concerns 535 
brought before the City Council recently about traffic conflict and safety concerns on this stretch 536 
of roadway, due to a few recent accidents. The Mayor stated he would like to see a traffic report 537 
addressing this. Mayor Kahen asked whether this process would add to a length of time, or 538 
would it be adding extra vehicles. Mr. Daigneault stated if they are currently running 50 trucks 539 
then that would remain; it is an extension of time.  540 
 541 
Ms. Brunner stated she would like to provide background on why staff recommended that the 542 
applicant come before the Board tonight; this is not a formal public hearing on the actual project. 543 
She stated there are no plans and no one was noticed. The reason for that is because state statute 544 
requires that the city send the minutes of the meeting where the Planning Board discussed 545 
regional impact by certified mail to the Regional Planning Commission and any other towns 546 
affected. What this would do, in essence, is that it forces a two Planning Board meeting process 547 
at a minimum. 548 
 549 
What Staff are hoping for tonight is just to stick strictly to the question of whether this 550 
application would have regional impact. That way, a vote could be registered on the record for 551 
the minutes. Staff will receive official minutes a week from now and will be able to mail those 552 
minutes by certified mail to the Regional Planning Commission and the Town of Sullivan. The 553 
applicant will come back before the Board for the traditional public hearing process next month. 554 
 555 
Ms. Brunner added both the Southwest Region Planning Commission and the Town of Sullivan 556 
would be afforded abutter status and will be invited to attend that meeting. She asked the Board 557 
to keep in mind the questions being raised tonight and raise them at the next public hearing when 558 
the public will have the notice ahead of time. This way, the public can follow along with the 559 
discussion. 560 
 561 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that this application has regional impact on both the 562 
Southwest Region Planning Commission and the Town of Sullivan. The motion was seconded by 563 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni and was unanimously approved. 564 
 565 

VI) Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com) 566 
 567 

Ms. Brunner addressed the Board and stated the update for this month is that staff are still 568 
working with the six task forces. The task forces were formed to address the six pillars outlined 569 
in the Master Plan. The task forces will be meeting three times (January, February and March). 570 

15 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 14 of 15 
 

The topics being covered are housing, thriving economy, connected mobility, vibrant 571 
neighborhoods, adaptable workforce, and flourishing environment.  572 

Simultaneously, there are discussion boards, which Ms. Brunner referred to on a rendering for 573 
the Board. She noted each of the discussion boards has a section on history, related macro trends, 574 
what is currently happening in Keene, results from the community survey, such as highlights that 575 
are relevant to the topic, highlights from the community snapshot report, a section on the 576 
consultants’ insights, and potential trade-offs. At the very end of the discussion board, there is a 577 
place to add comments. Ms. Brunner encouraged the Board to add information if there are items 578 
Staff missed. 579 

Ms. Brunner stated there is still time for anyone to join one of the task forces. 580 

Mr. Clancy asked what items that are on the current master plan have been checked off or found 581 
to be not important. Ms. Brunner stated she is seeing many of the themes from the prior master 582 
plan being carried forward, but with slightly different emphasis. For instance, this master plan 583 
talks about population growth and what healthy growth would look like. The current master plan 584 
did not refer to growth. In terms of the focus on environmental topics—sustainability, 585 
environmental stewardship, climate, walkability, protecting outdoor open spaces and smart 586 
growth principles—those items seem to be continuing forward with this effort. The other item 587 
that Ms. Brunner sees as being different is the conversation around housing, which feels a lot 588 
more urgent this time around. There is a much bigger recognition of the role that housing plays 589 
with every other aspect of the plan’s goals. The Chair agreed with Ms. Brunner. He noted he is 590 
not seeing that the city is losing focus on items such as sustainability and outdoor living but 591 
agreed there is emphasis on housing and improving the economy. 592 

Mayor Kahn noted the challenge for staff would be translating the master plan eventually into 593 
the Land Development Code and zoning updates. He did not feel the consultants were well 594 
engaged in the City’s land use code. Ms. Brunner agreed and stated the Master Plan update 595 
started with the renewal of the community vision and they will not be doing the future land use 596 
section until the very end. She stated this piece, future land use, is what ties it most closely back 597 
to the land use regulations. She stated this was done deliberately, because Staff felt that it made 598 
sense to do the future land use piece after the community vision and action items were discussed. 599 
She noted the second future summit has already been scheduled for Tuesday June 3rd, 2025, 600 
from 5 pm to 7 pm. Leading up to that, there are other events that are being scheduled.  601 

VII) Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Landscaping, & Screening 602 
Not addressed. 603 

 604 
VIII) Adoption of 2025 Meeting Schedule 605 

 606 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni to adopt the 2025 Meeting Schedule. The 607 
motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 608 
 609 

IX) Staff Update 610 
 611 

16 of 82



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
December 16, 2024 

Page 15 of 15 
 

Ms. Brunner stated the City applied for and has received the Housing Champion designation and 612 
a big portion of that has to do with the zoning changes the Board has been working on. This 613 
opens the city up for some grant funding opportunities. 614 

 615 
X) New Business 616 

 617 
None. 618 
 619 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 8:08 PM. 620 
 621 
Respectfully submitted by, 622 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 623 
 624 
Reviewed and edited by, 625 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 626 
  627 
 628 

17 of 82



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   January 17th, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item IV - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, the following applications are ready for final approval: 

1. PB-2024-07 – Dinkbee’s Gas Station Redevelopment, Major Site Plan – 510 
Washington St 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

18 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2024-21 – Subdivision – Two Lot Subdivision, 141 Old Walpole Rd 
 
Request: 
Applicant and owner, James A. Craig, proposes to subdivide the ~32.17-ac parcel at 141 Old 
Walpole Rd (TMP #503-006-000) into two lots ~24.61-ac and 7.56-ac in size. The parcel is located 
in the Rural District. 
 
Background: 
The purpose of this application is to 
subdivide an existing 32.15-acre residential 
parcel located at 141 Old Walpole Rd in the 
Rural District into two lots. Lot 1 will be a 7.5-
acre residential parcel with approximately 
450’ of frontage. The remaining parcel will be 
24.69 acres with approximately 359’ of 
frontage. The parent parcel contains an 
existing single-family residence, driveway, 
and other associated site improvements.  
 
The subject parcel is located on the northern 
side of Old Walpole Rd, directly adjacent to 
the Low-Density residential zoning district 
and the Hilltop Dr. intersection, and 
approximately 2,800’ northwest of the 
roundabout with 12A. Municipal water and 
sewer are located within 500’ of the subject 
parcel. There are several existing site 
features of note, including an old private road 
(Aaron Reed Road) that extends from Old 
Walpole Road to the rear property line and a 
stone wall network that lines both sides of 
the historic Aaron Reed Road, field 
boundaries, and most of the property 
boundaries.  
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposal does 
not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board will 
need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have the 
potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic analysis, drainage report, soil 
analysis, and other technical reports and analyses. After reviewing each exemption request, staff 
have made the preliminary determination that granting the request would have no bearing on the 
merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 
 

Fig 1: 141 Old Walpole Rd. outlined in yellow 

19 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application. 
 
20.2.1 Lots: Lot 1 will be 7.5 acres with approximately 450’ of frontage along Old Walpole Rd., 

which is a Class V road. The remaining lot will be 24.69 acres with approximately 359’ of 
frontage along Old Walpole Rd. The proposed frontage and lot area exceed the minimum 
requirements for lots in the Rural District. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.2 Character of Land for Subdivision: The applicant states in their narrative that the land 
proposed for subdivision “…poses no issues that would be considered dangerous to 
health, or peril from fire, flood, poor drainage, excessive slope, or other hazardous 
conditions.” The parcel is lightly wooded with gently sloping fields that are maintained by 
the current property owner. The subdivision plat notes that there are some small wetlands 
along the roadway drainage swale. The delineated wetland appears to be located in the 
middle of the frontage along Old Walpole Rd with space on either side for a street access 
point and driveway. 

20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
proposed subdivision does not promote any type of scattered or premature development. 
The subject parcel is located near several large-scale residential developments located 
within the Low-Density residential zoning district. Old Walpole Rd is a well-traveled Class-
V Road and municipal water and sewer are located within 500 ft of the subject parcel. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features: The applicant states in their narrative that Lot 1 will 
have multiple areas that are suited for residential development that would protect existing 
features such as unique scenic points, stone walls, and rock out-cropping. The applicant 
has not proposed any permanent restrictions or other legal instruments to protect any 
notable features on the new lot. The Board may wish to deliberate on requiring that the 
“…proposed development be designed and located to fit into the landscape in order to 
minimize significant landscape alterations and mitigate or avoid impacts to significant 
existing features or views/vistas,” per section 20.2.4.3 of the Land Development Code. 

20.2.5 Monumentation: New monuments will be set after the plan is approved. A condition of 
approval related to the inspection of installed monuments by the City Engineer or a 
financial security in lieu of the installation of the monuments is included in the suggested 
motion language. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 
subdivision is not located within any special flood hazard areas. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.2.7 Fire Protection & Water Supply: The applicant states in their narrative that there is a 
municipal fire hydrant located approximately 50’ from the subject parcel. The subject 
parcel is located approximately 8 minutes from the Keene Fire Station. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.2.8 Utilities: Lot 1 is proposed to be served by private well and septic. The applicant has 
submitted a percolation test and shows that a 4k septic area can be located on the lot. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Approve PB-2024-21 as shown on the plan set identified as “Minor Subdivision Plan” prepared 
by Envirespect Land Services, LLC at a scale of 1 inch = 100 feet, dated December 18, with the 
following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 
precedent shall be met: 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 

following their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed 
satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be 
set. 

C. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital 
copy of the final plan set. 

D. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to 
cover recording fees. 
 

 

21 of 82



22 of 82



23 of 82



24 of 82



25 of 82



26 of 82



27 of 82



28 of 82



29 of 82



30 of 82



31 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2024-22 – Subdivision – Two Lot Subdivision, 0 Ashuelot Rd 
 
Request: 
Applicant BCM Environmental & Land Law PLLC, on behalf of owner JRR Properties LLC, 
proposes to subdivide the ~3.53-ac parcel at 0 Ashuelot St (TMP #567-001-000) into two lots 
~2.45-ac and ~1.09-ac in size. The parcel is located in the Commerce District. 
 
Background: 
The purpose of this application is 
to subdivide an existing 3.53-acre 
parcel located at 0 Ashuelot St in 
the Commerce District into two 
lots. Lot 1 will be a 1.085-acre lot 
with 185.26’ of frontage along 
Ashuelot St. The remaining 
parcel, Lot 2, will be a 2.44-acre 
lot with 191.66’ of frontage along 
Ashuelot St.  
 
Lot 1 will be the future location of 
the Monadnock Conservancy 
headquarters. The Site Plan for 
the Monadnock Conservancy 
received conditional approval 
from the Planning Board at the 
November 25, 2024 meeting. 
Development of Lot 1 will require 
a Floodplain Development Permit 
from the City and an Alternation 
of Terrain Permit from the NH 
Department of Environmental 
Services. Lot 2 is intended to be 
donated to the City of Keene to be 
used as a park.  
 
The subject parcel is the former location of an overflow parking lot for the Colony Mill marketplace 
and is approximately 500 ft from the intersection with West St. The parking lot has since been 
removed and replaced with turf grass. The parcel is located on the west side of Ashuelot St, along 
the eastern shore of the Ashuelot River. Adjacent uses include the Mascoma Bank commercial 
plaza to the south, Ashuelot River Park to the west, residential uses to the east, and Harper Acres, 
a Keene Housing development, to the north. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 

Fig 1: 0 Ashuelot St. outlined in yellow 

32 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

Completeness: 
The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic study, drainage report, soil 
analysis, and other technical reports. After reviewing each exemption request, staff have made 
the preliminary determination that granting the request would have no bearing on the merits of 
the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 
 
Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application. 
 
20.2.1 Lots: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject parcel is legally conforming 

lot in the Commerce District with 3.53 acres of land area and 376.92 feet of frontage along 
Ashuelot St. The proposed lots will have more than the minimum required land area and 
frontage on Ashuelot St, which is a Class-V Road. It appears that this standard has been 
met.   

20.2.2 Character of Land for Subdivision: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject 
parcel is a level, undeveloped lot with only a small portion of the northwest corner within 
the Surface Water Protection Overlay buffer. The parcel is adjacent to the Ashuelot River 
and is almost entirely within the 100-year floodplain. Development within the floodplain is 
allowed with the issuance of a Floodplain Development Permit. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
proposed subdivision will not promote scattered or premature development. The subject 
parcel is located on a well-traveled Class-V Road in an existing mixed-use neighborhood 
with municipal utilities available. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject 
parcel does not have any significant features or attributes. The subject parcel used to be 
an overflow parking lot for a shopping center before the hardscape was removed. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.5 Monumentation: New monuments will be set after the plan is approved. A condition of 
approval related to the installed monuments being inspected by the City Engineer or a 
financial security in lieu of the installation of the monuments is included in the suggested 
motion language. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas: The applicant states in their narrative that the majority of the 
subject parcel is located in Zone AE, which is a FEMA special flood hazard area with a 1% 
chance of annual flooding. The flood hazard elevation is 474.8’ above sea level. This 
application does not propose to change the elevation of the property. 

 The Site Plan approval for the Monadnock Conservancy that is intended to be constructed 
on the 1.09-acre parcel (Lot 1) will be subject to a Floodplain Development Permit and 
Alteration of Terrain Permit. The development of the site will include the construction of 
a flood storage compensation system that will be located on the remaining 2.45 acre 
parcel (Lot 2). This system has been designed and approved by the Planning Board as 
part of the Site Plan application. The easement for the flood compensation system has 
not yet been submitted to the City Attorney for review. A condition of approval related to 

33 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

the submittal and review of the easement documents as well as the easement area being 
shown on the subdivision plat is included in the suggested motion language. It appears 
that this standard has been met. 

20.2.7 Fire Protection & Water Supply: The subject property is located adjacent to the downtown 
area and approximately 0.5 miles from the Keene Fire Station. There are municipal fire 
hydrants within the vicinity of the subject parcel. It appears that this standard has been 
met. 

20.2.8 Utilities: Municipal water and sewer service is available for the subject parcel. It appears 
that this standard has been met. 

 
Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Approve PB-2024-22 as shown on the plan set identified as “Two Lot Subdivision Land of JRR 
Properties LLC” prepared by Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 30 feet, dated 
October 31, 2024 and last revised January, 8 2025 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 
precedent shall be met: 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 

following their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed 
satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be 
set. 

C. Submittal of a revised subdivision plat with the proposed flood storage 
compensation easement shown on the plan. 

D. Submittal of draft easement documents for review by the City Attorney. 
E. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital 

copy of the final plan set. 
F. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to 

cover recording fees. 
 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions shall be met: 

A. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new construction, a copy of the 
executed and recorded easement documents shall be submitted to the 
Community Development Department.  

34 of 82



35 of 82



1 

0 Ashuelot Street, Keene, NH (Parcel ID: 567-001-000) 

Subdivision Application 

PROJECT NARRATIVE 

I. Project Overview

JRR Properties, LLC (“Owner”, “JRR Properties”) proposes to subdivide its 3.53-acre parcel at 0 
Ashuelot Street (TMP# 567-001-000) into two lots. The proposed lots will be 1.09 acres and 2.45 
acres, respectively. The 1.09-acre lot will be located at the northeast of the existing parcel and will 
be conveyed to the Monadnock Conservancy for use as its regional headquarters. The remaining 
2.45 acres of land will be conveyed to the City of Keene for use as a city park.   

The parcel, which is in the Commerce District, is located approximately 500 feet north of the 
intersection of Ashuelot Street and West Street. Its southern boundary is adjacent to the Mascoma 
Bank Plaza, its western boundary is adjacent to the Ashuelot River Greenspace/Trail, its northern 
boundary is adjacent to Ashuelot Court, and its eastern boundary abuts Ashuelot Street.   

Historically, the parcel was used as the overflow parking lot for the Colony Mill Marketplace. In 
2022 the parking lot pavement was removed and replaced with turf grass. Currently, the parcel is 
undeveloped. However, the Monadnock Conservancy received conditional site plan approval (PB-
2024-15) from the Planning Board at its November 25, 2024 meeting to develop the site.   

II. Subdivision Standards

A description of how the proposed subdivision complies with the City’s Subdivision Regulations 
(Article 20 of the City of Keene Land Development Code) is included below.   

20.2.1 Lots: 

The existing parcel, which is 3.53 acres with 376.92 feet of frontage on Ashuelot Street, is a legally 
conforming lot in the Commerce District. The lots in the proposed subdivision will be 1.09 acres 
(47,247 square feet) and 2.45 acres (106,499 square feet), each of which exceed the minimum lot 
size requirement of Commerce District of 15,000 square feet. Each of the proposed lots will have 
frontage on Ashuelot Street, which is a Class V Road, and will exceed the 50-feet minimum 
frontage requirement of the Commerce District. The 1.09-acre parcel will have 185.26 feet of 
frontage on Ashuelot Street and the 2.45-acre parcel will have 191.66 feet of frontage on Ashuelot 
Street.   

20.2.2 Character of Land: 

The subject parcel is a flat, undeveloped lot that is outside the City’s Surface Water Protection 
Ordinance, except for a small area in northwest corner of the parcel. Almost the entire parcel is in 
the 100-Year Floodplain, except for a small area of land at the northeast corner. However, 
designation in the floodplain does not preclude development from occurring on the lot. Proposed 

36 of 82



2 
 

development in the floodplain will require a floodplain permit from the City of Keene and any 
filling of the floodplain will require compensatory flood storage mitigation.  
 
An existing City-owned storm drainpipe runs through the proposed 2.45-acre parcel. The 
Monadnock Conservancy, in collaboration with the City, plans to replace approximately half of 
this buried storm drainpipe (presently running north/south through the entire parcel) with a riparian 
drainage swale that will support the conveyance of stormwater and storage of floodwater. 
Specifically, the flood storage volume of the drainage swale will provide the volume of flood 
storage compensation required for the Monadnock Conservancy’s proposed site work and building 
on the 1.09-acre parcel. The City, Monadnock Conservancy, and JRR Properties are working on 
an easement and maintenance agreement to address the construction and maintenance of the swale 
and replacement of the City’s drainage pipe.  
 

20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development: 
 

The proposed subdivision will not promote scattered or premature development. The parcel is 
located on a well-traveled Class V Road, in an existing mixed-use neighborhood in close proximity 
(~500 feet) to the West Street commercial corridor. Municipal water and sewer connections are 
present to support development.   
 

20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features: 
 

There are no significant existing features or attributes presently on the parcel that would be 
considered “Primary and Secondary Conservation Areas” in accordance with Section 20.2.4 and 
20.3.4 of the Keene Land Development Code.  
 

20.2.5 Monumentation: 
 

If approved, the proposed new lots will have monumentation.  
 

20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas: 
 

As noted earlier, the subject parcel is in Zone AE, a FEMA special flood hazard area with an 
annual 1% chance of flooding. The flood hazard (“100 year flood”) elevation is 474.8' NAVD88. 
The proposed subdivision does not propose to change any elevations on site. However, the 
Monadnock Conservancy intends to develop the proposed 1.09-acre lot for use as its regional 
headquarters. The approved site plan for the Monadnock Conservancy’s proposed development is 
configured to minimize potential impacts from flooding and will require a Floodplain 
Development Permit, flood storage compensation, and an Alteration of Terrain Permit.  
 

20.2.7 Fire Protection and Water Supply: 
 

The parcel is located in proximity to Downtown Keene and has the ability to be served by 
municipal water supply. There are several fire hydrants in the vicinity of the parcel, which is 0,5 
miles from the Keene Fire Station.  
 

37 of 82



3 
 

III. Site Development Standards 

 

At the Planning Board’s November 25, 2024 meeting, the Monadnock Conservancy received 
conditional Site Plan Approval to construct a 6,125 square foot office building, 26-space parking 
lot and other site improvements on the parcel. This development will occur in the area of the 
subject parcel proposed to be the 1.09-acre lot. As part of its site plan approval, the Planning Board 
determined that the Monadnock Conservancy’s proposed development complies with the 14 Site 
Development Standards in Article 21 of the Keene Land Development Code and, accordingly, that 
the subject parcel is suitable for development.   
 
For the purposes of this subdivision application, the Owner is requesting exemptions from the 
following standards, which were evaluated as part of the Owner/Monadnock Conservancy’s site 
plan review: 
 

• Article 21.2 – Drainage & Stormwater Management 
• Article 21.3 – Sediment and Erosion Control 
• Article 21.4 – Snow Storage & Removal 
• Article 21.5 – Landscaping  
• Article 21.6 – Screening  
• Article 21.7 – Lighting 
• Article 21.9 – Traffic and Access Management  
• Article 21.10 – Filling and Excavation 
• Article 21.13 – Noise 
• Article 21.14 – Architectural and visual appearance 

 

Included below is a review of the remaining Site Development Standards as they apply to the 
proposed subdivision.  
 

Article 21.8 – Sewer & Water:  
 

Municipal water and sewer are available to the parcel.  
 

Article 21.11 – Surface Water and Wetlands:  
 

There are no wetlands or surface waters within the project site. As such, no impacts to surface 
waters or wetlands are proposed as part of this subdivision.  
 

Article 21.12 – Hazardous and Toxic Materials:  
 

There are no known hazardous or toxic materials present on the site.  
 
 
 

38 of 82



A
sh

u
el

o
t 

R
iv

er

100 YEAR FLOOD
ELEVATION LINE

ELEV=474.8
SEE NOTE No.4

ZO
N

E X
ZO

N
E AE

ZO
N

E AE

ZO
N

E X

RIM: 472.57
INV N: 468.2
INV S: 468.1

10 YEAR FLOOD LINE
ELEV=473.7

SEE NOTE No.4

RIM: 472.20
INV N: 467.6
INV S:

BENCHMARK
900 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=477.45'

BENCHMARK
901 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=478.16'

INV:468.94
15"CMP

RIM: 474.59
INV W:471.1

RIM: 474.48
INV N: 468.0
INV E: 470.6
INV S: 468.0
INV NW: 470.8

RIM: 474.06
INV SE: 470.7

RIM: 475.67
INV W:472.0

RIM: 475.68
INV N: 469.0
INV E:471.4
INV S:468.9

RIM: 475.14
INV: 466.2

RIM: 476.18
INV N: 467.0
INV W: 467.8
INV S: 467.0

1" Pipe
Down 3" (f)

1" Pipe
Down 8" (f)

3/4" Pipe
Up 5" (f)

15
" S

DR
 35

15" HDPE

15
" C

MP
A

sh
u

el
o
t 

S
tr

ee
t

12" CMP

12"CMP

6"
 C

I

2 P
E 

L.P
.

47
1

47
2 473

475

471

474

475

475

S
8°

28
'4

4"
W

   
   

   
 1

85
.2

6'

S
8°

28
'4

4"
W

   
   

   
 1

91
.6

6'

S81°50'47"E          96.06'

285.71

N81°28'27"W          364.26'

N
5°

47
'3

8"
E

   
   

   
 1

15
.4

2'

N
17°43'16"W
38.73'

N
19°49'36"W

          101.99'

N
6°11'39"W

          138.64'

[567-001]
3.53 Acres ±

153,745 Sq.Ft.±
376.9' Frontage

[576-012]
MASCOMA BANK

255 West Street
Keene, NH 03431

3011/45

[567-082]
PETER M.
JACQUES

65 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

1491/232

[567-81]
DANA

COBURN
81 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3090/773

[567-080]
ANTHONY J.
CAVALIERE

83 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3051/854

[567-079]
ROBERT L.

CUMMINGS JR.
LIVING TRUST
3 Cotton Farm Lane

North Hampton, NH 03862
3264/961

[567-005]
RIVERSIDE ROOTS LLC

92 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3289/1346

[567-004]
KALSAM PROPERTIES LLC

420 Main Street
Keene, NH 03431

3262/1030

[576-003]
SUSAN C. DOYLE REV. TRUST

119 Stearns Road
Keene, NH 03431

2139/393

[576-002]
BARRETT BETH ANN

27 Ashuelot Court
Keene, NH 03431

3035/220

[567-083]
49-51 ASHUELOT ST LLC

PO Box 427
Keene, NH 03431

3143/497

[567-006]
MONADNOCK AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORP

831 Court StreetKeene, NH 034312600/306

[566-002]
CITY OF KEENE
3 Washington Street

Keene, NH 03431
857/538

[566-002]
CITY OF kEENE
3 Washington Street

Keene, NH 03431
857/538

Ashuelot CourtPrivate way

1" Pipe
Down 1" (f)

CRB
Up 6" (f) 88.48

S81°50'47"E          374.19'

20' D
R

AIN
AG

E EASEM
EN

T

SEE 2805/630 EXH
IBIT B.4

47
6

47
6

476

476

474

47
4 47
5

475

473

476

475

475

47
6

47
7

47
7

47
6

47
6

47
5

475

474

47
7

476

47
7

473

47
4

SEE EASEMENTS #3

LOCATION OF ROADWAY AS
SHOWN ON PLAN REF. No.2 AND
RESERVED AS A ROW IN
630/181. SEE EASEMENTS #3

BYREVISIONDATENO.

Notes
1. THE BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE BASED ON A MAGNETIC OBSERVATION PER PLAN

REFERENCE NO.1 AND SERVE ONLY TO DEFINE ANGULAR RELATIONSHIPS.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM BOUNDARY EVIDENCE AND
CONTROL SHOWN ON PLAN REFERENCE NO.1. AND FOUND DURING THE FIELD SURVEY. A BOUNDARY
SURVEY WAS NOT PERFORMED.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY HUNTLEY SURVEY &
DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF MAY, 2021, SUPPLEMENTED BY POINT CLOUD
DATA OBTAINED FROM NH GRANIT FOR AREAS OUTSIDE THE IMMEDIATE SURVEY LIMITS. THE
VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD 88 OBTAINED BY CONVERTING THE NGVD 1929 BENCHMARKS INDICATED
ON PLAN REFERENCE No.1. CONTOUR INTERVAL IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. THE PARCEL SHOWN IS PARTIALLY WITHIN IN ZONE AE, A FEMA SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA WITH
AN ANNUAL 1% CHANCE OF FLOODING, PER FEMA FIS 33005CV001A, SHEET 20P, CROSS SECTIONS BR
& BS, ALSO AS SHOWN ON FEMA FLOOD PANEL 33005C0266E, EFFECTIVELY DATED  MAY 23, 2006. THE
FLOOD HAZARD (100 YEAR FLOOD)  ELEVATION IS 474.8' NADVD88.  THE 10 YEAR FLOOD LINE HAS
BEEN INTERPOLATED FROM THE SAME FIS CROSS SECTIONS TO BE 473.7.

5. WATER ELEVATION AT SHORE OF ASHUELOT RIVER IN THE SURVEYED AREA ON JUNE 18, 2024 WAS
APPROXIMATELY 471.4'

8. JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS WERE DELINEATED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN DURING THE MONTH
OF AUGUST, 2024 USING THE THREE PARAMETER APPROACH DESCRIBED IN TECHNICAL MANUAL
Y-87-1, THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS 1987 WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL AND SUPPLEMENTED BY
THE JANUARY 2012, REGIONAL SUPPLEMENT TO THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS WETLAND DELINEATION
MANUAL: NORTHCENTRAL AND NORTHEAST REGION U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, V.2.

9. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM DATA
OBTAINED FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE LOCATIONS & INFORMATION SHOWN ON PLAN
REFERENCE No.1 THEIR EXISTENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF
ALL UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL
DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

A. WASTEWATER SEWER LINES AND STORM SEWER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LOCATION OF SURFACE
STRUCTURES AND MEASURED INVERTS.

B. WATER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LIMITED DATA OBTAINED FROM CITY GIS AND A SINGLE SURFACE
STRUCTURE.

C. GAS LINES ARE SHOWN FROM TIES AND GIS DATA OBTAINED FROM LIBERTY GAS.

D. SUBSURFACE ELECTRIC LINE LOCATIONS WERE NOT INVESTIGATED OR MARKED OUT BY THE
PROPER AUTHORITIES, AND IF THEY EXIST, ARE NOT SHOWN.

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED
BY ME OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR
TRAVERSE THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL
ACCURACY FOR URBAN AREAS AS REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1,
"ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL SUPPORTING THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED
ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON,
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND.

Locus Map
NTS

AS
HU

EL
O

T 
RI

VE
R

ASH
U

ELO
T ST

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 ST
SC

H
O

O
L ST

COURT ST

GILBO AVE

ISLAN
D

 ST
WINCHESTER ST

PROJECT
LOCATION

Keene
New Hampshire

Existing Conditions
LAND OF

JRR Properties LLC
located at

Tax Map Parcel No. 567-001
0 Ashuelot Street, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

Book 2805, Page 630

Scale 1"= 30'
Surveyed 05/2021          Plan prepared  10/31/2024

Project No. H24-007          Cad File No. H20-007 Subd.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

.

Owner Certification
WE CERTIFY THAT WE ARE THE CURRENT OWNERS OF THE
TRACTS SHOWN HEREON AND THAT I APPROVE OF THE
SUBDIVISION.

___________________________________
OWNER'S SIGNATURE            DATE

___________________________________
OWNER'S SIGNATURE            DATE

APPROVED BY THE
KEENE PLANNING BOARD

           BY                                                                   CHAIRMAN

           AND                                                              SECRETARY

           ON                                                                                       .

30 0 15 30 60 120

1" = 30'

Graphic Scale

HDS

N

Magnetic
2024

Symbol Legend

STORM SEWER LINE
DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN

WATER LINE
CURB STOP
WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

SANITARY SEWER LINE
SEWER CLEANOUT
SEWER MANHOLE

LIGHT POLE

POST/BOLLARD
SIGN

CHAIN LINK FENCE
TREE LINE

IRON PIN/PIPE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EDGE OF GRAVEL

SURVEY STATION

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

KEENE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

[1-2-3]
CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS

Zoning Districts
COM (Commerce)
REQUIREMENTS

MAX HEIGHT 2 STORIES/35'
LOT SIZE 15,000 sf
FRONTAGE 50'

BUILDING SETBACKS
FRONT 20'
SIDE 20'
REAR 20'

MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 80%
MAX IMPERMEABLE COVERAGE 80%
MIN GREEN/OPEN SPACE 20%

Overlay Districts
Surface Water Protection District:

30' SETBACKS FROM SURFACE WATERS

CRB SET
CAPPED 5/8" REBARCRB

SET
FOUND(f)

(s)

FOR PLANNING BOARD REVIEW
-NOT FOR RECORDING-

Easements

THE SURVEYED PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO THE
FOLLOWING RIGHTS AND EASEMENTS:

1. THE RIGHT OF THE CITY OF KEENE TO MAINTAIN A
DRAINAGE CANAL, COVERED OR ENCLOSED, AS
DEFINED IN 489/402 AND AMENDED IN 650/405,
650/456, 654/268 & 655/324. THE DRAINAGE
EASEMENT IS SHOWN AND CENTERED ON THE
EXISTING DRAINAGE STRUCTURES PER PLAN REF
No.1.

2. THE SURVEYED PARCEL MAY BE SUBJECT TO
RIGHTS RESERVED BY FAULKNER AND COLONY
MFG IN 602/181 (NOW CITY OF KEENE) TO:

a. FLOW THE LOW LANDS UP TO AN ELEVATION
OF 474±. (FLOWAGE)

b. MAINTAIN THE BANK OF THE RIVER.
(MAINTENANCE)

c. ENJOY A RIGHT OF WAY OVER THE ROADWAY
O THE EASTERLY BANK OF THE POND.
(ACCESS)

3. THE RIGHTS OF NET&T & PSNH, AND THEIR
ASSIGNS, FOR DISTRIBUTION LINES AND
APPURTENANCES LOCATED ON OR OVER THE
PARCEL. SEE 612/33. THE DEED REFERS TO POLES
WITH POLE NUMBERS NOT FOUND ON THE
PREMISES BUT DESCRIBED AS BEING NEAR THE
SOUTHERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF ASHUELOT
COURT. THE POLE ON THE PROPERTY AND WIRES
CROSSING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE
SURVEYED PARCEL HAVE BEEN ASSUMED TO BE
THE LOCATION OF THE EASEMENT IN QUESTION.

Plan References

REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. ALTA/ACSM LAND TITLE SURVEY OF MAYO TWO, LLC, ASHUELOT STREET PROPERTY, DATED JUNE
2004; BY ROGER T. MONSELL, CLOUGH HARBOUR & ASSOCIATES LLP (Provided by Client)

2. PLAT OF EMILE J. LEGERE SUBDIVISION, ASHULEOT STREET, KEENE, NH, DATED FEBRUARY 28, 1983,
BY THOMAS W. FLAVIN (Pb.48 Pg.66 CCRD)

3. PART OF FORMER LILLIAN L. COLIVAS PROPERTY OWNED BY JOHN C. CONN & HARLEY M.
CHATTERTON, DATED JANUARY 1959, BY ROY K. PIPER. (Pb.10 Pg.12 CCRD)

4. PLAN OF CITY DRAINAGE DITCH ON PROPERTY OF FAULKNER & COLONY MFG, DATED NOVEMBER
1935 W.E. FAULKNER Jr. (Pb.8 Pg.48 CCRD)

39 of 82

AutoCAD SHX Text
C  2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
KED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CCRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
123/456



A
sh

u
el

o
t 

R
iv

er

100 YEAR FLOOD
ELEVATION LINE

ELEV=474.8
SEE NOTE No.4

ZO
N

E X
ZO

N
E AE

ZO
N

E AE

ZO
N

E X

RIM: 472.57
INV N: 468.2
INV S: 468.1

10 YEAR FLOOD LINE
ELEV=473.7

SEE NOTE No.4

RIM: 472.20
INV N: 467.6
INV S:

BENCHMARK
900 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=477.45'

BENCHMARK
901 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=478.16'

INV:468.94
15"CMP

RIM: 474.59
INV W:471.1

RIM: 474.48
INV N: 468.0
INV E: 470.6
INV S: 468.0
INV NW: 470.8

RIM: 474.06
INV SE: 470.7

RIM: 475.67
INV W:472.0

RIM: 475.68
INV N: 469.0
INV E:471.4
INV S:468.9

RIM: 475.14
INV: 466.2

RIM: 476.18
INV N: 467.0
INV W: 467.8
INV S: 467.0

1" Pipe
Down 3" (f)

1" Pipe
Down 8" (f)

3/4" Pipe
Up 5" (f)

15
" S

DR
 35

15" HDPE

15
" C

MP
A

sh
u

el
o
t 

S
tr

ee
t

12" CMP

12"CMP

6"
 C

I

2 P
E 

L.P
.

47
1

47
2 473

475

471

474

475

475

[Lot 2]
2.445 Acres ±

106,499 Sq.Ft. ±

Frontage
191.66' on Ashuelot Street

[Lot 1]
1.085 Acres ±
47,247 Sq.Ft.±

Frontages
185.26' on Ashuelot Street

S
8°

28
'4

4"
W

   
   

   
 1

85
.2

6'

S
8°

28
'4

4"
W

   
   

   
 1

91
.6

6'

S81°50'47"E          96.06'

285.71

New Line          N81°12'48"W          228.25'

N
ew

 L
in

e          N
9°00'24"W

          191.25'

N81°28'27"W          364.26'

N
5°

47
'3

8"
E

   
   

   
 1

15
.4

2'

N
17°43'16"W
38.73'

N
19°49'36"W

          101.99'

N
6°11'39"W

          138.64'

BUILDING SETBACK LINE

[576-012]
MASCOMA BANK

255 West Street
Keene, NH 03431

3011/45

[567-082]
PETER M.
JACQUES

65 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

1491/232

[567-81]
DANA

COBURN
81 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3090/773

[567-080]
ANTHONY J.
CAVALIERE

83 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3051/854

[567-079]
ROBERT L.

CUMMINGS JR.
LIVING TRUST
3 Cotton Farm Lane

North Hampton, NH 03862
3264/961

[567-005]
RIVERSIDE ROOTS LLC

92 Ashuelot Street
Keene, NH 03431

3289/1346

[567-004]
KALSAM PROPERTIES LLC

420 Main Street
Keene, NH 03431

3262/1030

[576-003]
SUSAN C. DOYLE REV. TRUST

119 Stearns Road
Keene, NH 03431

2139/393

[576-002]
BARRETT BETH ANN

27 Ashuelot Court
Keene, NH 03431

3035/220

[567-083]
49-51 ASHUELOT ST LLC

PO Box 427
Keene, NH 03431

3143/497

[567-006]
MONADNOCK AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORP

831 Court StreetKeene, NH 034312600/306

[566-002]
CITY OF KEENE
3 Washington Street

Keene, NH 03431
857/538

BUILDING SETBACK LINE

SURFACE WATER
PROTECTION
DISTRICT LINE

[566-002]
CITY OF kEENE
3 Washington Street

Keene, NH 03431
857/538

Ashuelot CourtPrivate way

1" Pipe
Down 1" (f)

CRB
Up 6" (f) 88.48

S81°50'47"E          374.19'

20' D
R

AIN
AG

E EASEM
EN

T

SEE 2805/630 EXH
IBIT B.4

47
6

47
6

476

476

474

47
4 47
5

475

473

476

475

475

47
6

47
7

47
7

47
6

47
6

47
5

475

474

47
7

476

47
7

473

47
4

SEE EASEMENTS #3

LOCATION OF ROADWAY AS
SHOWN ON PLAN REF. No.2 AND
RESERVED AS A ROW IN
630/181. SEE EASEMENTS #3

BYREVISIONDATENO.
RJHCHANGE PROPOSED LOT NUMBERS1 1/8/25

Notes
1. THE BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE BASED ON A MAGNETIC OBSERVATION PER PLAN

REFERENCE NO.1 AND SERVE ONLY TO DEFINE ANGULAR RELATIONSHIPS.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM BOUNDARY EVIDENCE AND
CONTROL SHOWN ON PLAN REFERENCE NO.1. AND FOUND DURING THE FIELD SURVEY. A BOUNDARY
SURVEY WAS NOT PERFORMED.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY HUNTLEY SURVEY &
DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF MAY, 2021, SUPPLEMENTED BY POINT CLOUD
DATA OBTAINED FROM NH GRANIT FOR AREAS OUTSIDE THE IMMEDIATE SURVEY LIMITS. THE
VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD 88 OBTAINED BY CONVERTING THE NGVD 1929 BENCHMARKS INDICATED
ON PLAN REFERENCE No.1. CONTOUR INTERVAL IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. THE PARCEL SHOWN IS PARTIALLY WITHIN IN ZONE AE, A FEMA SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA WITH
AN ANNUAL 1% CHANCE OF FLOODING, PER FEMA FIS 33005CV001A, SHEET 20P, CROSS SECTIONS BR
& BS, ALSO AS SHOWN ON FEMA FLOOD PANEL 33005C0266E, EFFECTIVELY DATED  MAY 23, 2006. THE
FLOOD HAZARD (100 YEAR FLOOD)  ELEVATION IS 474.8' NADVD88.  THE 10 YEAR FLOOD LINE HAS
BEEN INTERPOLATED FROM THE SAME FIS CROSS SECTIONS TO BE 473.7.

5. WATER ELEVATION AT SHORE OF ASHUELOT RIVER IN THE SURVEYED AREA ON JUNE 18, 2024 WAS
APPROXIMATELY 471.4'

8. JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS WERE DELINEATED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN DURING THE MONTH
OF AUGUST, 2024 USING THE THREE PARAMETER APPROACH DESCRIBED IN TECHNICAL MANUAL
Y-87-1, THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS 1987 WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL AND SUPPLEMENTED BY
THE JANUARY 2012, REGIONAL SUPPLEMENT TO THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS WETLAND DELINEATION
MANUAL: NORTHCENTRAL AND NORTHEAST REGION U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, V.2.

9. THE PROPOSED LOTS WILL BE SERVICED BY MUNICIPAL SEWER AND WATER.

10. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM DATA
OBTAINED FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE LOCATIONS & INFORMATION SHOWN ON PLAN
REFERENCE No.1 THEIR EXISTENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF
ALL UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL
DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

A. WASTEWATER SEWER LINES AND STORM SEWER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LOCATION OF SURFACE
STRUCTURES AND MEASURED INVERTS.

B. WATER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LIMITED DATA OBTAINED FROM CITY GIS AND A SINGLE SURFACE
STRUCTURE.

C. GAS LINES ARE SHOWN FROM TIES AND GIS DATA OBTAINED FROM LIBERTY GAS.

D. SUBSURFACE ELECTRIC LINE LOCATIONS WERE NOT INVESTIGATED OR MARKED OUT BY THE
PROPER AUTHORITIES, AND IF THEY EXIST, ARE NOT SHOWN.

Locus Map
NTS

AS
HU

EL
O

T 
RI

VE
R

ASH
U

ELO
T ST

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 ST
SC

H
O

O
L ST

COURT ST

GILBO AVE

ISLAN
D

 ST
WINCHESTER ST

PROJECT
LOCATION

Keene
New Hampshire

Two Lot Subdivision
LAND OF

JRR Properties LLC
located at

Tax Map Parcel No. 567-001
0 Ashuelot Street, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

Book 2805, Page 630

Scale 1"= 30'
Surveyed 05/2021          Plan prepared  10/31/2024

Project No. H24-007          Cad File No. H20-007 Subd.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

.

30 0 15 30 60 120

1" = 30'

Graphic Scale

HDS

N

Magnetic
 2024

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED
BY ME OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR
TRAVERSE THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL
ACCURACY FOR URBAN AREAS AS REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1,
"ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL SUPPORTING THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED
ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON,
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND.

Owner Certification
WE CERTIFY THAT WE ARE THE CURRENT OWNERS OF THE
TRACTS SHOWN HEREON AND THAT I APPROVE OF THE
SUBDIVISION.

___________________________________
OWNER'S SIGNATURE            DATE

___________________________________
OWNER'S SIGNATURE            DATE

APPROVED BY THE
KEENE PLANNING BOARD

           BY                                                                   CHAIRMAN

           AND                                                              SECRETARY

           ON                                                                                       .

Symbol Legend

STORM SEWER LINE
DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN

WATER LINE
CURB STOP
WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

SANITARY SEWER LINE
SEWER CLEANOUT
SEWER MANHOLE

LIGHT POLE

POST/BOLLARD
SIGN

CHAIN LINK FENCE
TREE LINE

IRON PIN/PIPE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EDGE OF GRAVEL

SURVEY STATION

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

KEENE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

[1-2-3]
CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS

CRB SET
CAPPED 5/8" REBARCRB

SET
FOUND(f)

(s)

FOR PLANNING BOARD REVIEW
-NOT FOR RECORDING-

Zoning Districts
COM (Commerce)
REQUIREMENTS

MAX HEIGHT 2 STORIES/35'
LOT SIZE 15,000 sf
FRONTAGE 50'

BUILDING SETBACKS
FRONT 20'
SIDE 20'
REAR 20'

MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 80%
MAX IMPERMEABLE COVERAGE 80%
MIN GREEN/OPEN SPACE 20%

Overlay Districts
Surface Water Protection District:

30' SETBACKS FROM SURFACE WATERS

Easements

THE SURVEYED PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO THE
FOLLOWING RIGHTS AND EASEMENTS:

1. THE RIGHT OF THE CITY OF KEENE TO MAINTAIN A
DRAINAGE CANAL, COVERED OR ENCLOSED, AS
DEFINED IN 489/402 AND AMENDED IN 650/405,
650/456, 654/268 & 655/324. THE DRAINAGE
EASEMENT IS SHOWN AND CENTERED ON THE
EXISTING DRAINAGE STRUCTURES PER PLAN REF
No.1.

2. THE SURVEYED PARCEL MAY BE SUBJECT TO
RIGHTS RESERVED BY FAULKNER AND COLONY
MFG IN 602/181 (NOW CITY OF KEENE) TO:

a. FLOW THE LOW LANDS UP TO AN ELEVATION
OF 474±. (FLOWAGE)

b. MAINTAIN THE BANK OF THE RIVER.
(MAINTENANCE)

c. ENJOY A RIGHT OF WAY OVER THE ROADWAY
O THE EASTERLY BANK OF THE POND.
(ACCESS)

3. THE RIGHTS OF NET&T & PSNH, AND THEIR
ASSIGNS, FOR DISTRIBUTION LINES AND
APPURTENANCES LOCATED ON OR OVER THE
PARCEL. SEE 612/33. THE DEED REFERS TO POLES
WITH POLE NUMBERS NOT FOUND ON THE
PREMISES BUT DESCRIBED AS BEING NEAR THE
SOUTHERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF ASHUELOT
COURT. THE POLE ON THE PROPERTY AND WIRES
CROSSING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE
SURVEYED PARCEL HAVE BEEN ASSUMED TO BE
THE LOCATION OF THE EASEMENT IN QUESTION.

Plan References

REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. ALTA/ACSM LAND TITLE SURVEY OF MAYO TWO, LLC, ASHUELOT STREET PROPERTY, DATED JUNE
2004; BY ROGER T. MONSELL, CLOUGH HARBOUR & ASSOCIATES LLP (Provided by Client)

2. PLAT OF EMILE J. LEGERE SUBDIVISION, ASHULEOT STREET, KEENE, NH, DATED FEBRUARY 28, 1983,
BY THOMAS W. FLAVIN (Pb.48 Pg.66 CCRD)

3. PART OF FORMER LILLIAN L. COLIVAS PROPERTY OWNED BY JOHN C. CONN & HARLEY M.
CHATTERTON, DATED JANUARY 1959, BY ROY K. PIPER. (Pb.10 Pg.12 CCRD)

4. PLAN OF CITY DRAINAGE DITCH ON PROPERTY OF FAULKNER & COLONY MFG, DATED NOVEMBER
1935 W.E. FAULKNER Jr. (Pb.8 Pg.48 CCRD)

40 of 82

AutoCAD SHX Text
C  2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
KED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CCRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
123/456

AutoCAD SHX Text
W



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2024-23 – MAJOR SITE PLAN & SURFACE WATER CUP – SHOOTING RANGE, 19 FERRY 
BROOK ROAD 

 
Request: 

Applicant SVE Associates, on behalf of owner Cheshire County Shooting Sports Education 
Foundation Inc., proposes to modify the approved site plan for the shooting range at 19 Ferry 
Brook Rd (TMP #214-021-000) to include a gravel shooting berm and an area of constructed 
wetlands on the southern portion of the site. A Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit 
is requested to allow the berm and other existing site features to be located within the 75’ surface 
water buffer. The parcel is 55-ac in size and is located in the Rural District. 
 
Background: 

The subject parcel is an existing ~55-ac lot 
located at the intersection of Ferry Brook Rd and 
Sullivan Rd. The northern property boundary is 
shared with the Town of Sullivan and residential 
uses and undeveloped lots abut the parcel on all 
sides. The property is owned by and serves as 
the site of the Cheshire County Shooting Sports 
Education Foundation (CCSSEF). Site features 
include both indoor and outdoor shooting 
ranges, a club house, and several other features 
related to the operation of the club. 
 
The property is located at 19 Ferry Brook Rd 
(TMP #214-021-000) in the Rural District and has 
previously gone through the site plan review 
process in the past. The first site plan 
application, SPR-01-13, was submitted in 2013 
for the construction of a ~26,000-sf indoor 
shooting range on the property. This approval 
was quickly followed by the submittal of a 
modification, SPR-01-13 Modification #1, which 
was approved in January 2015 for the removal 
of 18 parking spaces on the site to reduce the 
amount of impervious surface. This approval 
expired before the conditions of approval were 
met and was replaced by SPR-01-13 Modification #2, which was submitted in July 2020 for the 
construction of a ~3,300-sf indoor shooting range and associated site modifications. The 
conditions for this application were satisfied and in December 2020, the final plans were signed 
by the Planning Board Chair. 
 
During site inspections by Planning Staff following the initial construction of the indoor shooting 
range, several changes from the approved site plan were noted, including the addition of a trailer 
that was being used as classroom space, the improper installation of the stormwater 
management system, and a change to the exterior finish materials originally approved for the club 
house and indoor shooting range. In addition, staff observed the presence of a large earthen berm 
on the southern portion of the site near the main entry driveway onto the property.  

SULLIVAN, NH  

North 

Figure 1. Aerial imagery of the CCSSEF site at 19 
Ferry Brook Rd from 2020. 

41 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

The applicant submitted an updated site plan application, SPR-01-13 Modification #3, to address 
these discrepancies. To address the presence of the berm on the site and minimize its impact on 
the 75’ surface water buffer, the applicant opted to propose to remove the topsoil pile, boulder 
pile, and portion of the gravel berm from the buffer. Removing these stockpiled materials from 
the buffer would have avoided the need to obtain a Surface Water Protection Conditional Use 
Permit (CUP). The applicant satisfied all precedent conditions of approval for this application and 
final approval was granted by the Planning Board in June 2024.  
 
Following the final approval of this application, the applicant contacted Planning Staff and 
attended the December 2024 Pre-submission meeting to discuss the review process that would 
be required for leaving a portion of the berm within the 75’ surface water buffer. During this 
meeting, the applicant noted that another area of wetlands was discovered directly to the north 
of the berm and that the berm was infringing on the 75’ surface water buffer in this area as well.  
 
In accordance with Section 11.6.1.A of the City’s Land Development Code (LDC), the permanent 
encroachment of the berm into the surface water buffer as well as the installation of a new 10’-
wide emergency spillway to the north of the level spreader are both activities requiring the 
submittal of Surface Water Protection CUP and Major Site Plan applications for review by the 
Planning Board. In addition to seeking approval to allow for the ~9,537-sf of the berm to remain 
as a permanent site feature within the surface water buffer, the applicant is proposing to extend 
the area of existing wetlands to the west of the berm by constructing ~2,785-sf of artificial 
wetlands to help offset the impact to the buffer for the other areas of existing wetlands. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the proposal, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed site plan 
and Surface Water CUP applications do not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as 
defined in RSA 36:55. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the 
proposal, if approved, could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a landscaping plan, lighting plan, 
elevations, traffic analysis, historic evaluation, screening analysis, and architectural and visual 
appearance analysis. After reviewing each request, staff have made the preliminary determination 
that granting the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application 
and recommend that the Board accepts the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 

 Engineering Staff Comments: (Note: These comments have been addressed by the applicant) 

1. The proposed grading that extends into the existing berm to the North of the proposed 
level spreader creates a localized low point that will act as a ditch. It is recommended that 
this low point be protected with rip rap to minimize/eliminate erosion. 

2. It is noted that the applicant is making an exemption request for a drainage analysis for 
the proposed improvements; however, it is recommended that drainage calculations be 
submitted and reviewed to confirm that the proposed treatment swale is sufficiently sized 
for a 25-year storm event.  

3. It is noted that the applicant is making an exemption request for a soil analysis for the 
proposed improvements; however, it is recommended that the existing soils within the 

42 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

proposed areas of disturbance be reviewed by the Engineer of record and confirmed 
suitable for the proposed grading. 

 Zoning Staff Comments: Based on the provided site plan and project narrative it is unclear 
what the applicant is requesting. Are they seeking a buffer reduction or the construction of a 
structure in the wetland buffer? The applicant should clarify their request and revise their 
submittal accordingly. (Note: In response to this comment, the applicant clarified that the intent 
is to seek a CUP to allow structures within the wetland buffer) 

 
APPLICATION ANALYSIS:  The following is a review of the Surface Water CUP and Planning 

Board development standards relevant to this application. 
 
Article 11.5.F – Permitted Uses: 
This section of the code outlines 
the uses that are allowed within the 
surface water buffer without the 
issuance of a conditional use 
permit. One such allowed use is the 
construction and maintenance of 
trails using best management 
practices for trails in accordance 
with the manual “Best Management 
Practices for Erosion Control During 
Trail Maintenance & Construction.”  
 
While reviewing this application, 
staff noted that the unpaved 
wooded paths, which can seen in 
the 2020 aerial imagery in Figure 2, 
appeared to also be located within 
the surface water buffer. The 
applicant has added these trails to 
the site plan as an existing site 
feature.  
 
During correspondence with staff, the applicant noted that these paths were historically used to 
access the dam shown in black in Figure 2, which has since been removed. Photos showing the 
current state of the site and its existing vegetation can be seen in Figures 3-5. The Board may 
wish to clarify the existing use and maintenance practices for these trails with the applicant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North 

43 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
Article 11.6.1.A – Activities Subject to Conditional Use Permit: This section of the code outlines 
all of the uses that are allowed within surface water buffer subject to the review and issuance of 
a Surface Water Protection CUP by the Planning Board. Included in this list are structures located 
within the surface water buffer as well as the construction of stormwater management facilities 
and structures. Article 28 of the LDC defines a “structure” as, “Anything constructed or erected 
which requires location on or in the ground, or attached to something having location on or in the 
ground, including signs, billboards, fences and swimming pools.” 
 
Based on this definition, the existing gravel berm, which is labeled on the proposed conditions 
plan in Figure 6 as an outdoor shooting range, would be considered a structure. The berm 
encroaches into the 75’ surface water buffer into two different locations as there are existing 
wetlands located directly to the west and north of this site feature. These areas are highlighted in 
yellow in Figure 6 and total ~9,537-sf in size. In order for the full extent of the berm to remain on 
the site as permanent feature moving forward, the applicant has decided to seek a Surface Water 
CUP in lieu of removing the portions of the berm within the surface water buffer. In addition to the 
berm, the applicant is also proposing to install a 10’-wide emergency overflow to the north of the 
previously approved level spreader. This is considered a stormwater management structure that 
is also subject to the issuance of a CUP.  
 
 
 

44 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

The project narrative states that the existing topsoil and boulder piles located within the 75’ 
surface water buffer are proposed to be removed. The boulder pile will be relocated near the 
southeastern corner of the berm as shown in Figure 6 and the topsoil pile will be distributed over 
the top of the berm to help stabilize it. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Article 11.6.2 – Conditional Use Permit Standards: “The Planning Board shall issue a surface water 
protection conditional use permit for the activities described in Section 11.6.1, if it finds that all of 
the following criteria have been met. 

A. The proposed use and/or activity cannot be located in a manner to avoid encroachment into 
the Surface Water Protection Overlay District.” 

 
As part of the previous Site Plan application, SPR-01-13 Modification #3, the applicant was 
proposing to remove the topsoil and boulder piles and portion of the berm from within the 75’ 
surface water buffer. As part of this current proposal, the applicant is still proposing to remove 
the boulder and topsoil piles from the buffer, but would also like to seek approval to leave the 
existing portions of the berm within the buffer. To offset any potential impacts of the berm’s 
~9,537-sf encroachment into the buffer, the applicant is proposing to construct ~2,785-sf of 
additional wetlands to the west of the berm. The full extent of the berm’s encroachment into the 
buffer can be seen in the “CUP Buffer, Berm Exhibit” plan, which is included as an attachment to 
this staff report. 

North 

North 

45 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

The new area of wetlands will be constructed by excavating the ground in this area and creating 
a series of pools and mounds landscaped with various tree and shrub plantings to mimic a natural 
wetland. Included as an attachment to this staff report is an exhibit that was prepared by a 
certified wetlands scientist showing the proposed methods and landscaping to be used in the 
construction of the artificial wetlands.  
 
During correspondence with City Staff, the applicant noted that ~103 cubic yards of material will 
need to be excavated to allow for the creation of the new the wetlands. The Board will need to 
make a determination as to whether or not the proposed construction of an artificial wetland is 
sufficient to offset the impacts of the berm on the 75’ surface water buffer. Planning Staff 
recommend that the Board include a condition of approval related to the submittal of a security 
to cover the cost sediment/erosion control measures and landscaping. In addition, it is 
recommended that a condition of approval related to an initial site inspection following the 
completion of the wetlands and a final inspection after 1 year later are also included in the motion. 
  

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figures 7-9 (from left to right). Aerial 
imagery from 2010, 2015, and 2020 showing 
the evolution of the southwestern portion of 

the site where the berm is now located.  

46 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

B. “Encroachment into the buffer area has been minimized to the maximum extent possible, 
including reasonable modification of the scale or design of the proposed use.” 

 
Based on the aerial imagery included in Figures 7-9, Planning Staff believe that the berm was 
added as a site feature sometime between 2015-2020. It was first observed on the site by staff 
during site inspections in 2022 following the approval for the construction of the indoor shooting 
range as part of SPR-01-13 Modification #2. It was added to the site plan approved as part of the 
subsequent site plan modification, SPR-01-13 Modification #3. As part of this proposal, the 
applicant is seeking to allow the ~9,537-sf portion of the berm within the 75’ surface water buffer 
to remain and is proposing to construct an additional ~2,785-sf of artificial wetlands to the west 
of the berm to offset any impact of the berm within the surface water buffer.  
 
The Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify what other options were considered in deciding 
how to deal with the portions of the berm within the surface water buffer. Figure 10 at the end of 
this staff report includes a series of photos taken by Planning Staff during a July 2022 site visit. 
These photos can be used to understand the size and scale of the berm on the site.  

 
C. “The nature, design, siting, and scale of the proposed use and the characteristics of the site, 

including but not limited to topography, soils, vegetation, and habitat, are such that when 
taken as a whole, will avoid the potential for adverse impacts to the surface water resource.” 

 
As stated previously in this staff report, the Board will need to make a determination as to whether 
allowing ~9,537-sf of the berm to remain in the 75’ surface water buffer as a permanent site 
feature is offset by the fact that the applicant is proposing to construct an additional ~2,785-sf 
of wetlands on the property.  
 

D. “The surface water buffer area shall be left in a natural state to the maximum extent 
possible. The Planning Board may establish conditions of approval regarding the 
preservation of the buffer, including the extent to which trees, saplings and ground cover 
shall be preserved.  

1. Dead, diseased, unsafe, fallen or invasive trees, saplings, shrubs, or ground cover 
may be removed from the surface water buffer area.  

2. Tree stumps and their root systems shall be left intact in the ground, unless removal 
is specifically approved in conjunction with a surface water protection conditional 
use permit granted by the Planning Board. The stumps and root balls of exotic, 
invasive species may be removed by hand digging and/or hand cutting.   

3. Preservation of dead and living trees that provide dens and nesting places for 
wildlife is encouraged. Planting of native species of trees, shrubs, or ground cover 
that are beneficial to wildlife is encouraged.  

4. Where there has been disturbance or alteration of the surface water buffer during 
construction, revegetation with native species may be required by the Planning 
Board.” 

 
The Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify how the surface water buffer and constructed 
wetlands will be maintained into the future. The applicant has already added a note to the plan 
stating that the berm will be maintained in the future to avoid any further potential encroachment 
of this feature into the surface water buffer.  

47 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
E.  “The Planning Board may consider the following to determine whether allowing the 

proposed encroachment will result in an adverse impact on the surface water resource.  
1. The size, character, and quality of the surface water and the surface water buffer 

being encroached upon.  
2. The location and connectivity of the surface water in relation to other surface waters 

in the surrounding watershed.  
3. The nature of the ecological and hydrological functions served by the surface water.  
4. The nature of the topography, slopes, soils, and vegetation in the surface water 

buffer.  
5. The role of the surface water buffer in mitigating soil erosion, sediment and nutrient 

transport, groundwater recharge, flood storage, and flow dispersion.  
6. The extent to which the surface water buffer serves as wildlife habitat or travel 

corridor.  
7. The rate, timing and volume of stormwater runoff and its potential to influence water 

quality associated with the affected surface water or any associated downstream 
surface waters.  

8. The sensitivity of the surface water and the surface water buffer to disruption from 
changes in the grade or plant and animal habitat in the buffer zone.” 

 
The Planning Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify the above items related to the quality 
and role of the wetlands on the site. As part of the review process for Surface Water CUPs, the 
applicants are required to go before the Conservation Commission for review. Planning Staff will 
relay any advisory comments and recommendations provided by the Conservation Commission 
to the Planning Board at the meeting on January 27th.  
 
Article 21.2 - Drainage & Stormwater Management: The submitted narrative states that 
stormwater from the club house/indoor shooting range, classroom trailer, and a portion of the 
berm will sheet flow to the proposed level spreader. Additionally, the narrative states that there 
will be no discharge into the City drainage systems, no direct discharge to the river, and no 
measurable increase in stormwater runoff from the proposed site improvements. The proposed 
conditions plan shows the installation of a 10’-wide emergency spillway that will direct runoff into 
the adjacent wetlands. The proposed conditions plan, soil analysis, and drainage summary were 
sent to the City Engineer for review and he had no concerns about the submitted materials. This 
standard appears to be met. 
 
Article 21.3 - Sediment & Erosion Control: The project narrative states that silt fencing will be 
installed to help with erosion and sediment control. The proposed conditions plan on Sheet C-1 
and the constructed wetlands exhibit show the installation of silt fencing around the majority of 
the perimeter of the berm as well as the installation of silt socks around the perimeter of the 
constructed wetlands. As stated previously in this staff report, Planning Staff recommend that 
the Board include a condition of approval related to the submittal of a security for sediment and 
erosion control and landscaping. In addition, it is recommended that a condition of approval 
related to a staff inspection of the erosion control measures after their installation is included as 
well.  
 
Article 21.4 - Snow Storage & Removal: The project narrative states that the entire CCSSEF site 
is over 100-ac in size and has ample space for snow storage. This standard appears to be met. 
 

48 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

Article 21.5 - Landscaping: The project narrative states that the only landscaping proposed to be 
installed is in the area of the constructed wetlands as well as mulch and seed that will be used to 
stabilize the berm. The planting table included on the constructed wetlands exhibit shows a total 
of 60 plantings including a mix of trees (red maples, eastern hemlocks) as well as a mix of shrubs 
(common winterberry, highbush blueberry, broad-leaved meadowsweet, and silky dogwood). As 
stated previously in this staff report, Planning Staff recommend that the Planning Board include 
a condition of approval related to the submittal of a security to cover the cost of landscaping and 
sediment/erosion control measures. Staff also recommend that conditions of approval related to 
initial and final landscaping inspections be included as well.  
 
Article 21.10 - Filling & Excavation: The project narrative states that the only area where 
excavation will occur is in the proposed area of the constructed wetlands. During correspondence 
with City Staff, the applicant noted that ~103 cubic yards of material will need to be excavated in 
order to construct the artificial wetland. The grades of the new wetland will vary in depth from 0’ 
at the existing ground level to 2’ below existing grade on the high side. Due to the extensive ground 
area already disturbed on the CCSSEF site, Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a 
condition of approval related to the submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain (AoT) Permit, 
if deemed necessary by the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES). In 
addition, the approved application number should be added to the final plans.  
 
Article 21.11 - Surface Waters & Wetlands: This section of the code states that, “All development 
shall comply with all federal and state wetland and surface water regulations, Article 11 of this LDC, 
as well as any other applicable City regulations.” In reviewing this application, the Board will need 
to make a determination as to whether or not the applicant has adequately addressed the Surface 
Water Protection CUP review standards outlined under Article 11.6.2 of the LDC. 
 
Article 21.12 - Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The project narrative states that the hazardous and 
toxic materials development standard is not applicable to this application; however, the Planning 
Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify how ammunition is disposed of when the berm is 
used as a shooting range. 
 
Article 21.13 - Noise: The project narrative states that there are no changes proposed to the level 
of noise generated by the shooting range. The Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify the 
hours of operation of the outdoor shooting ranges. 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:   
 
 “Approve PB-2024-23 as shown on the plan identified as “CUP/Site Plan; Cheshire County 

Shooting Sports Education Foundation, Inc; 19 Ferry Brook Road; Keene, New Hampshire” 
prepared by SVE Associates at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet on January 5, 2024 and last revised 
on January 7, 2025 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the 
following conditions precedent shall be met: 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the CUP/site plan and constructed wetlands exhibit. 

49 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

b. Submittal of five full-sized paper copies of the proposed conditions plan, 
constructed wetlands exhibit, and wetlands setback exhibit to the Community 
Development Department. 

c. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community 
Development Director and City Engineer to cover the cost of landscaping and 
sediment/erosion control measures. 

d. Submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain Permit application, if deemed 
necessary by NH DES. The approved permit number shall be included on the final 
plans. 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, 
the following conditions shall be met: 

a. Prior to the commencement of site work, a pre-construction site visit shall be 
scheduled with Community Development Staff. In addition, the Community 
Development Department shall be notified when all erosion control measures are 
installed and the Community Development Director, or their designee, shall inspect 
the erosion control measures for compliance with this application and all City of 
Keene regulations. 

b. With six months of the date of final approval for this application, the topsoil and 
boulder piles within the 75’ surface water buffer shall be removed. The buffer shall 
be flagged by a soil scientist licensed in the State of NH and subject to an 
inspection by the Community Development Director, or their designee, to confirm 
that the materials have been sufficiently removed to ensure compliance with the 
Surface Water Protection Ordinance. 

c. Following the completion of the construction of the artificial wetlands, the 
applicant shall contact the Community Development Department to schedule initial 
and final landscaping inspections of the wetlands and stabilized berm. 

d. After all conditions subsequent for the previous site plan application, SPR-01-13 
Modification #3, have been completed and all site work has been inspected for 
compliance with the approved plan and all City of Keene regulations, the security 
on file for the project shall be released.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50 of 82



STAFF REPORT 
 

Figure 10. Photos of the berm on the southern portion of the CCSSEF site at 19 Ferry Brook Road 
taken by Planning Staff in July 2022. 

 

      

51 of 82



52 of 82



53 of 82



54 of 82



TRAILER

INDOOR
SHOOTING

RANGECLUB HOUSE

106

101

101
96

96

100

106

105

100
10

6

TO RANGES

TO FERRY BROOK ROAD

BENCHMARK: 100.00
TBM 135/2-2 RIP RAP SWALE

RIP RAP SWALE

OVERHEAD LIGHT ABOVE

110

110

105

100

95

100

95

95

100

105

11
0

110

105

105

100

95

90

90

85

95

90

95

110

10
5

100

95

90

95

10
090

90

95

95

90

±20' TO EDGE OF WOODS

97

98

98

97

100

95

110

11
110

111

111

PA
VE

D
 D

R
IV

EW
AY

W
ET

WET WET WET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

O
U

TLET 24" C
PP

EXISTING ABOVE
GROUND PROPANE

TANKS,
PROTECTED BY

BOULDERS

WF1-01

WF1-02

WF1-03

WF1-04

WF1-05

WF1-06

WF1-07

WF1-8

WF1-9

WF1-10

WF1-11

WF1-12

WF2-04

WF2-03

WF2-02
WF2-01

WF2-05
WF2-06

WF2-07

WF2-08

WF1-09

WF1-10

WF1-20

WF1-11WF2-11

WF2-12

WF2-13

WF2-14

WF2-15

WF2-16

WF2-17

WF2-18

WF2-19

REMOVE SECTION OF SILT FENCE

EXTEND SILT FENCE

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

75
' O

FF
SET F

ROM LE
ACHFIE

LD

89

88

87

86

85

89

86

AREA USED FOR
SHOOTING RANGE

100

97

98

97

94

DATE:

PROJ. #:

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 10 20 40

20'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

26
95

A 
C

he
sh

ire
 C

ou
nt

y 
Fi

sh
 &

 G
am

e 
C

lu
b\

D
w

g\
K2

69
5A

 S
IT

E 
1-

6-
25

.d
w

g 
  J

an
 0

7,
  2

02
5 

- 1
:3

4p
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

C-1

N

-JAN- 245

K2695AK2695A

DRAWN: AJG

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT                       DATE

 CHECKED: LPS

KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
19 FERRY BROOK ROAD

CHESHIRE COUNTY
SHOOTING SPORTS
EDUCATION FOUNDATION, INC

CUP
SITE PLAN

EDGE OF GRAVEL

LIMIT OF WET AREA

EXISTING MINOR CONTOUR

EXISTING MAJOR CONTOUR 320

PROPOSED (DARK) EXISTING (LIGHT)

BUILDINGS

RIP RAP
W W

BENCHMARK

WELL

LIGHT POLE

SIGN

EXIST PROP

SILT FENCE

16
" M

IN
.

16
"

1/7/25

1/10/2025

55 of 82



TRAILER

INDOOR
SHOOTING

RANGE

CLUB HOUSE

106

10
1

101

96

96

10
0

10
6

10
5

100

106

TO
 R

AN
GE

S

TO
 F

ER
RY

 B
RO

O
K 

RO
AD

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K:
 1

00
.0

0
TB

M
 1

35
/2

-2
R

IP
 R

AP
 S

W
AL

E

R
IP

 R
AP

 S
W

AL
E

O
VE

R
H

EA
D

 L
IG

H
T 

AB
O

VE

11
0

11
0

10
5

10
0

95

100

95

95 100

105

110

11
0

10
5

105

10
0

95

90

90

85

95

90

95

11
0

105

10
0

95

90

95

100

90

90

95

95

90

±2
0'

 T
O

 E
D

G
E 

O
F 

W
O

O
D

S

97

98

98

97

10
0

95

110

11
0

110

111

11
1

LI
GH

T 
PO

LE
, T

YP
.

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

OUTLET 24" CPP

EXISTING ABOVE
GROUND PROPANE

TANKS,
PROTECTED BY

BOULDERS

W
F1

-0
1

W
F1

-0
2

W
F1

-0
3

W
F1

-0
4

W
F1

-0
5

W
F1

-0
6 W

F1
-0

7

W
F1

-8

W
F1

-9

W
F1

-1
0

W
F1

-1
1

W
F1

-1
2

W
F1

-1
3W

F1
-1

4
W

F1
-1

5E
N

D

W
F2

-0
4

W
F2

-0
3

W
F2

-0
2

W
F2

-0
1

W
F2

-0
5

W
F2

-0
6

W
F2

-0
7

W
F2

-0
8

W
F1

-0
9

W
F1

-1
0

W
F1

-2
0

W
F1

-2
1

W
F1

-2
2

W
F1

-1
1

W
F2

-1
1

W
F2

-1
2

W
F2

-1
3

W
F2

-1
4

W
F2

-1
5

W
F2

-1
6

W
F2

-1
7

W
F2

-1
8

W
F2

-1
9

SS

SS

SS

89

88

87

86

85

10
0

97

98

97

94

DATE:

PROJ. #:

CUP BUFFER

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 10 20 40

20'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

26
95

A 
C

he
sh

ire
 C

ou
nt

y 
Fi

sh
 &

 G
am

e 
C

lu
b\

D
w

g\
K2

69
5A

 S
IT

E 
1-

6-
25

.d
w

g 
  J

an
 1

7,
  2

02
5 

- 1
0:

56
am

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

1
1

N

BERM EXHIBIT

-JAN- 2516

K2695AK2695A

CHESHIRE COUNTY SHOOTING SPORTS
EDUCATION FOUNDATION, INC.

DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

56 of 82



WET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET

WET

W
ET

SITE LOCATION MAP
SCALE: 1"=2000'

SITE

65
4 

N
ew

 B
os

to
n 

R
oa

d 
- F

ra
nc

es
to

w
n,

 N
H

 0
30

43
P

ho
ne

: 6
03

-5
47

-7
10

0 
 E

m
ai

l: 
ck

da
nf

or
th

@
gm

ai
l.c

om

W
et

la
nd

 D
el

in
ea

tio
n,

 R
es

to
ra

tio
n 

&
 D

es
ig

n
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l  

P
er

m
itt

in
g,

 A
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 &
 S

ep
tic

  D
es

ig
n

D
A

N
F
O

R
T

H
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
C

O
N

S
U

L
T

IN
G

, 
L
L
C

C:\
Us

er
s\C

da
nf

or
th

\O
ne

Dr
ive

\D
oc

um
en

ts\
DE

C-
LL

C\
DE

C-
Pr

oje
cts

\S
VE

 A
sso

cia
te

s\2
4-

01
43

 C
CS

SE
F\

24
-0

14
3C

on
str

uc
te

d 
W

et
lan

d.d
wg

, 1
2/

18
/2

02
4 3

:24
:15

 PM
, 1

:1

57 of 82



106

101

101

96

96

100

106

105

10
0

10
6

TO RANGES

TO FERRY BROOK ROAD

BENCHMARK: 100.00TBM 135/2-2

RIP RAP SWALE

RIP RAP SWALE

BARK COVERED SLOPE

GRAVEL BERM

PAVED

OVERHEAD LIGHT ABOVE

WET AREA

GRAVEL

110

110

105 100

95

10
0 95

95
100

105

110

110

105

10
5

100

95

90

90

85

95

90

95
110

10
5

100

95

90

95

10
090

90

95

85

95

90

±20' TO EDGE OF WOODS

97

98

98

97

100

95

TOPSOIL PILE

GRAVEL BERM

110

110
110

111

111

LIGHT POLE, TYP.

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

30'

75' WETLAND BUFFER

BOULDER PILE

30'75' WETLAND BUFFER

WF1-01

WF1-02

WF1-03

WF1-04

WF1-05

WF1-06

WF1-07

WF1-8

WF1-9

WF1-10

WF1-11
WF1-12

WF1-13

WF1-14WF1-15END

WF2-04

WF2-03

WF2-02 WF2-01

WF2-05 WF2-06

WF2-07

WF2-08

WF1-09

WF1-10

WF1-20
WF1-21

WF1-22

WF1-11WF2-11

WF2-12

WF2-13
WF2-14

WF2-15

WF2-16

WF2-17

WF2-18

WF2-19

SVE Associates

P.O. Box 1818

439 West River Road

Brattleboro, VT 05302

T   413.774.6698

F   413.773.0875

www.sveassoc.com

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

c 2024SVE
NO. REVISION DATE DWN CHK

N

1"
=

G
R

AP
H

IC
 S

C
AL

E

0
25

50

50
'

Drawing name: P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2695A Cheshire County Fish & Game Club\Dwg\K2695A SITE rev.2.dwg   Apr 25,  2024 - 1:56pm

CHECKED:  LPS
DRAWN: AJG
DESIGN:  LPS

PROJ. #:

DATE:

SHEET

1
1

K2695A

-ARP- 2424

WETLAND
SETBACK EXHIBIT

N

KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
19 FERRY BROOK ROAD

CHESHIRE COUNTY
SHOOTING SPORTS
EDUCATION
FOUNDATION, INC

EDGE OF GRAVEL

EXISTING MINOR CONTOUR
EXISTING MAJOR CONTOUR 320

LINE TYPES PROPOSED (DARK) EXISTING (LIGHT)

BUILDINGS

MISCELLANEOUS

RIP RAP
W W

BENCHMARK
WELL

LIGHT POLE

SIGN

EXIST PROPPOINTS

SYMBOL LEGEND

WETLAND BOUNDARY WET

WETLAND SETBACK

NOTES:
1. WETLAND DELINEATION BY CHRIS
DANFORTH. CERTIFIED WETLAND SCIENTIST
ON APRIL 10, 2024. AND LOCATED BY SVE
ASSOCIATES ON APRIL 22, 2024

58 of 82

Cdanforth
Stamp

Cdanforth
Text Box
4/25/2024



59 of 82



60 of 82



61 of 82



62 of 82



63 of 82



64 of 82



65 of 82



66 of 82



67 of 82



68 of 82



69 of 82



70 of 82



71 of 82



72 of 82



73 of 82



 

 

 

P a g e  |  1  

January 15, 2025 
 
To:  Jay Kahn, Mayor and Harold Farrington, Master Plan Steering Committee Chair 
 
Through: Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager and Andy Bohannon, Deputy City Manager 
 
From:  Mari Brunner, Senior Planner   
 
Subject: Vision Keene 20-Forward Project Update & Task Force Overview 
 
 
Recommendation 
For your information. 
 
Background 
The update to the City of Keene 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan, “Vision Keene 20-Forward,” 
began in January 2024 and is well underway. The first phase of the project, which involved 
obtaining broad community input and renewing the Keene Community Vision, wrapped up in 
early October 2024 with the first Future Summit on October 5. The draft Community Vision was 
presented at the October Future Summit event and was also presented to City Council. The 
vision includes six strategic pillars: 
 

1. Livable Housing – Expand enticing housing options for all. 
2. Thriving Economy – Grow a dynamic economy of the future that spans local to 

international. 
3. Connected Mobility – Build regional and local connectivity, transportation and recreation 

networks. 
4. Vibrant Neighborhoods – Support vibrant community neighborhoods that reflect their 

unique culture and identity. 
5. Adaptable Workforce – Foster a future-ready, abundant and diverse workforce. 
6. Flourishing Environment – Champion environmental stewardship and climate action. 

 
 

Following the October Future Summit, six task forces were formed for each of the topics listed 
above. These task forces will meet three times each from January-March of 2025. At the first 
meeting for each task force, these groups will be asked to review input received from the 
community, 3-5 case studies showcasing how other communities have approached this topic, 
and best practices/technical analysis. They will then be asked to identify 3-5 pillar goals for the 
next 15 years. The second task force meeting will focus on identifying strategies/action items 
to reach those goals, and at the third meeting, task forces will review a draft chapter of their 
respective pillar. Between task force meetings, all recommendations will be brought to the 
Master Plan Steering Committee for input.  
 
Public input is critical to the success of this project. A diversity of local voices, expertise, 
perspectives, concerns, and ideas will help us build a realistic and actionable implementation 
plan that reflects the needs and goals as articulated by the community. Current and upcoming 

74 of 82

https://keenemasterplan.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Vision-Keene-Vision-Report.pdf


 
 

P a g e  |  2  

opportunities for public input (beyond the regular monthly meetings of the Steering Committee) 
are listed below: 
 

• Task Forces: Community members that are interested in one or more of the specific 
pillar topics are invited to participate on a task force. The current task force membership 
and January meeting schedule is included as an attachment to this memo. 

• Online Discussion Boards: For each strategic pillar, a discussion board has been 
developed with a section where people can comment and reply to each other. The ideas 
shared through these discussion boards will be reviewed by the task forces and Steering 
Committee. These boards will be posted through the spring. 

• Presentations to Students and Community Groups: City planning staff are available to 
present to classrooms, student groups, and community groups throughout the project. 
Staff hope to engage with groups that have not yet participated in large numbers (e.g., K-
12 students, college students, refugee community, non-native English speakers, etc.).  

• Comprehensive Plan Survey: A second community survey will be conducted to gather 
feedback on proposed goals/strategies and how these should be prioritized.  

• Online Story Maps: Interactive digital maps will be created and posted on the project 
website to highlight areas where change is being considered and help the community 
understand the proposed Future Land Use Map (target date: late April or early May).  

• June 3rd Future Summit: The final Comprehensive Master Plan will be presented to the 
public on Tuesday, June 3, 2025, from 5-7 PM at Heberton Hall (60 Winter Street). This 
event is free and open to the public. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

75 of 82

https://keenemasterplan.com/vision-keene-nh/discussion-boards/


VISION KEENE 20-FORWARD 
Strategic Pillar Task Force Schedule & Members 

 
Livable Housing  

Alison Moynihan 

Andy Holte 

Anthony Ferrantello 

Astara Zuorski 

Autumn DelaCroix 

Cody Morrison 

Dan Langille 

Heather Harada 

Jaclyn Headings 

Jill Bouchillon 

Josh Meehan 

Ken Kost 

Krishni Pahl 

Mitch Piper 

Paula Sousa 

Sally Archer 

Sam Jackson 

Tom Julius 

 
Thriving Economy 

First Name Last Name 

Anthony Ferrantello 

Christa Daniels 

Cody Morrison 

Elizabeth Dragon 

Emily Levigne-Bernier 

Harold Farrington 

Jay Kahn 

Julianna Dodson 

Julie Schoelzel 

Kate Witte 

Katia Knight 

Peter Lehnen 

Rebecca Landry 

Sarah Harpster 

Sofia Cunha-Vasconcelos 

Taryn Fisher 

 
Connected Mobility  

First Name Last Name 

Andy Holte 

Autumn DelaCroix 

Bobby Williams 

Brianne Rafford-Varley 

Bryan Ruoff 

Craig Fulton 

Dave Hickling 

Diana Duffy 

Hope Therrien 

Laura Tobin 

Mitch Piper 

Sam Jackson 

Sergio Pritchett 

 
Vibrant Neighborhood  

First Name Last Name 

Astara Zuorski 

Carrah Fisk-Hennessey 

Catt Workman 

Deborah LeBlanc 

Don Lussier 

Hope Therrien 

Matt Boulton 

Michael Davis 

Molly Ellis 

Nora Rozell 

Rowland Russell 

Tricia Zahn 

 
Adaptable Workforce 

First Name Last Name 

Andy Bohannon 

Astara Zuorski 

Brent Nolan 

Daisy Frederick 

David Bouchillon 

Diana Duffy 

Heather Jasmin 

Jay Kahn 

Jim Kraly 

Marti Fiske 

Megan Young 

Rose Kundanis 

 

76 of 82



Flourishing Environment Task Force

First Name Last Name 

Alisha Anderson 

Anthony Ferrantello 

Catherine Koning 

Craig Fulton 

Dee Robbins 

Duncan Watson 

Jill Bouchillon 

Kate Witte 

Ken Kost 

Matt Boulton 

Ritu Budakoti 

Rowland Russell 

Sarah Harpster 

Sofia Cunha-Vasconcelos 

Sparky Von Plinsky 

 

Task Force Meeting Schedule 

Task Force Meeting Date Meeting Time 

Livable Housing 22-Jan 5:00 PM 
Thriving Economy 29-Jan 12:00 PM 
Connected Mobility 27-Jan 5:00 PM 
Vibrant Neighborhoods 29-Jan 5:00 PM 
Adaptable Workforce  28-Jan 5:00 PM 
Flourishing Environment 30-Jan 12:00 PM 

 

77 of 82



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

January 17, 2025 
 
TO:  Planning Board 
 
FROM:  Mari Brunner, Senior Planner   
 
SUBJECT: Update on Administrative Planning Project Approvals for 2024  
 
 

The following projects were reviewed administratively by Planning Staff during 2024: 
 

 
1. SPR-937, Modification #12C – Barnes & Noble – 32 Ash Brook Rd. #3: Applicant Tricario 

Architecture & Design PC, on behalf of owner Keene MZL LLC, proposes minor exterior 
renovations to an existing vacant tenant space for Barnes & Noble in the Monadnock 
Marketplace Plaza located at 32 Ash Brook Rd #3 (TMP #109-027-000). The parcel is 1.35-ac 
in size and is located in the Commerce District. 

 
2. PB-2024-19 – Antique Store & Residence – 973 Marlboro Rd: Applicant JLS Properties LLC, 

on behalf of owner BTD Properties LLC, proposes to convert the existing behavioral health 
office space to a retail and residential use on the property at 973 Marlboro Rd (TMP #249-
004-000). The parcel is 1.1-ac in size and is located in the Rural District. 

 
3. PB-2024-17 – Parking Area Expansion – 23 Park Ave: Applicant and owner Park Place Keene 

LLC proposes to expand the existing parking area on the property at 23 Park Ave (TMP #568-
048-000). The parcel is 0.55-ac in size and is located in the High Density District. 

 
4. SPR-755, Modification #1 – Parking Area Expansion – 80 Emerald St: Applicant and owner 

Greenwald Realty proposes to expand the existing parking area on the parcel at 80 Emerald 
St (TMP #584-068-000). The parcel is 1.7-ac in size and is located in the Downtown Growth 
District. 

 
5. SPR-12-17, Modification #3 – Archway Farm Exterior Lighting Modifications – 183 Arch St: 

Applicant and owner Mark Florenz proposes to modify the lighting approved by the Planning 
Board in June 2024 as part of the Major Site Plan application, SPR-12-17 Modification #2. 
Instead of installing both pole lights and wallpack light fixtures, only six wallpack lights will be 
installed around the perimeter of the farm store. The subject parcel is 53-ac in size and is 
located in the Agricultural District. 

 
6. SPR-423, Modification #5 – Corning Chiller Equipment Installation – 69 Island St. #13: 

Applicant Energy Efficient Investments, on behalf of owner Keene Island Holdings LLC, 
proposes to install new mechanical equipment along the western portion of the southern 
building facade of the Island Mill building located at 69 Island St (TMP #583-010-000-001-
06B). The parcel is 7.7-ac in size and is located in the Commerce District. 

78 of 82



7. PB-2024-12 – Conversion of Office Space to Four Apartments – 53 Marlboro St: Applicant 
Tailfeather Strategies, on behalf of owner Jared Goodell, proposes to convert existing office 
space into four apartments and make associated site improvements on the property located 
at 53 Marlboro St (TMP #590-095-000). The parcel is 0.18-ac and is located in the Downtown 
Edge District.

8. PB-2024-11 – Aliber Place Duplex Housing Development – 15 Aliber Pl: Applicant 
Tailfeather Strategies, on behalf of owner Jared Goodell, proposes the development of three 
duplex buildings on the properties at 7 & 15 Aliber Pl (TMP#s 590-093-000 & 590-092-000). 
The parcels are a combined 0.46-ac in size and are located in the Downtown Edge & 
Residential Preservation Districts.

9. PB-2024-11 – Aliber Place Duplex Housing Development – 7 Aliber Pl: Applicant Tailfeather 
Strategies, on behalf of owner Jared Goodell, proposes the development of three duplex 
buildings on the properties at 7 & 15 Aliber Pl (TMP#s 590-093-000 & 590-092-000). The 
parcels are a combined 0.46-ac in size and are located in the Downtown Edge & Residential 
Preservation Districts.

10. SPR-03-19, Modification #4 – Keene Mini Storage Addition Expansion – 678 Marlboro Rd: 
Applicant SVE Associates, on behalf of owner, Keene Mini Storage LLC, proposes a 5'-
extension to the rear of the previously-approved addition to the Keene Mini Storage site 
located at 678 Marlboro Rd (TMP #241-107-000). The addition was initially approved by the 
Planning Board as part of a Major Site Plan application, SPR-03-19 Modification #3, which 
received final approval in February 2024. The subject parcel is 9.5-ac in size and is located in 
the Industrial District.

11. SPR-12-18, Modification #2 – Silk Mill Apartments – 160 Emerald St: Applicant Emerald 
Development LLC, on behalf of owner Toby Tousley, proposes to convert a portion of the 
second floor of the former Silk Mill building into ten apartments and install rooftop equipment. 
The subject parcel is located at 160 Emerald St (TMP #583-034-000), is 3.11-ac in size, and 
is located in the Downtown Growth District.

12. SPR-12-18, Modification #4 – Silk Mill Apartments– 160 Emerald St: Applicant 
Tailfeather Strategies, on behalf of owner Emerald Development, LLC, proposes to convert 
~6,121-sf of existing office space into 17 apartments in the Silk Mill Building located at 160 
Emerald St (TMP #583-034-000). This approval will result in a total of ~13,771-sf of office 
space in the building being converted into a total of 27 apartments. The subject parcel is 
3.11-ac in size and is located in the Downtown Growth District.

13. PB-2024-10 – Restaurant – 21 Davis St: Applicant Noble Ramen House LLC, on behalf of 
owner 21 Davis Street LLC, proposes to open a restaurant in the vacant retail tenant space in 
the building at 21 Davis St (TMP #584-058-000). The parcel is 0.18-ac in size and is located 
in the Downtown Core District.

14. SPR-928, Modification #1 – Leon's Auto Body Container Storage Area – 600 Main St: 
Applicant and owner 600 Main Street, LLC, proposes to designate a 50'x50' storage container

79 of 82



 

 

area to the southeast of the Leon's Auto Body building located at 600 Main St (TMP #114-
014-000). The parcel is 4.3-ac in size and is located in the Commerce District. 

 
15. SPR-575, Modification #3 – Keene Chrysler EV Charger & Transformer Installation – 410 

Winchester St: Applicant A.B. Precision Electric, on behalf of owner SAM Family Limited 
Partnership, proposes to install an EV charger and transformer along the west facade of the 
Keene Chrysler Dealership building located at 410 Winchester St (TMP #111-008-000). The 
parcel is 4.63 ac and is located in the Commerce Limited District. 

 
16. SPR-09-12, Modification #8 – Valvoline Facade Modifications – 420-486 West St: Applicant 

Hunley Enterprises Inc., on behalf of owner 420-480 West Street LLC, proposes exterior 
modifications to the Valvoline building located at 420-486 West St (TMP #578-004-000) in the 
Fairbanks Shopping Plaza. Proposed exterior modifications include lowering a portion of the 
existing roofline, installing new siding along the top part of the building, and relocating an 
existing rooftop unit. The parcel is 14.97 ac and is located in the Commerce District. 

 
17. SPR-02-23, Modification #1 – Contractor Bay Loading Docks – 0 Black Brook Rd: Applicant 

Patriot Holdings LLC, on behalf of owner New England Interconnect Systems Inc., proposes 
to add a loading dock to each of the contractor bay buildings approved by the Planning Board 
as part of the Site Plan & Surface Water Conditional Use Permit applications, SPR-02-23 & 
SWP-CUP-01-23, which received final approval in September 2023. The combined parcels 
making up the site are a total of 12.57 ac in size and are both located in the Corporate Park 
District. 

 
18. SPR-11-16, Modification #11– Covenant Living EV Charger – 95 Wyman Rd: Applicant 

Hamblet Electric, on behalf of owner Covenant Living of Keene, proposes to install an EV 
charger and create two additional parking spaces on the eastern portion of the Covenant 
Living parcel at 95 Wyman Rd (TMP #221-019-000). The parcel is 36.26 ac and is located in 
the Rural District. 

 
19. PB-2024-02 – Restaurant – 21 Davis St: Applicant Gayann Letman, on behalf of owner 21 

Davis St LLC, proposes to open a restaurant with 20 seats in the vacant tenant space in the 
building located at 21 Davis St (TMP #584-058-000). There are no changes proposed to the 
building exterior or site. The parcel is 0.18-ac and is located in the Downtown Core District. 

 
20. SPR-02-23, Modification #1 – Contractor Bay Loading Docks – 0 Black Brook Rd: Applicant 

Patriot Holdings LLC, on behalf of owner New England Interconnect Systems Inc., proposes 
to add a loading dock to each of the contractor bay buildings approved by the Planning Board 
as part of the Site Plan & Surface Water Conditional Use Permit applications, SPR-02-23 & 
SWP-CUP-01-23, which received final approval in September 2023. The combined parcels 
making up the site are a total of 12.57 ac in size and are both located in the Corporate Park 
District. 

 
21. SPR-790, Modification #2 – Summit Packaging Addition Modifications – 7 Krif Ct: Applicant 

and owner Summit Packaging Systems LLC, proposes modifications to the Site Plan, SPR-
790 Modification #1, that received final approval from the Planning Board in January 2024. 
Proposed modifications from the approved site plan include a reduction in the size of the 
addition from ~6,400 sf to ~4,000 sf, the addition of a paved drive aisle adjacent to the 

80 of 82



 

 

addition, and some minor modifications to the stormwater management system. The parcel 
is 1.95 ac and is located in the Industrial District. 

 
22. SPR-06-23, Modification #1 – Roosevelt School Housing Design & Site Modifications – 438 

Washington St: Applicant Monadnock Affordable Housing, on behalf of owner the Community 
College System of NH, proposes to modify the Major Site Plan application, SPR-06-23, that 
received conditional approval from the Planning Board in May 2023. The proposed 
modifications to the original approval include the construction of an ~133 sf community room 
at the rear of the Phase II building along the north building facade and an alteration to the 
phasing and location of the proposed condominium line on the site. The parcel is 2.4 ac and is 
located in the Low Density District. 

 
23. SPR-01-23, Modification #1 – Granite State Carwash Exterior Design Changes – 364 West 

St: Applicant Bergeron Construction Co. Inc., on behalf of owner A&B LLC, proposes to modify 
the exterior design of the new Granite State Carwash building at 364 West St (TMP #577-026-
000) that was approved by the Planning Board in February 2023 as part of the Major Site Plan 
application, SPR-01-23. The parcel is 0.60 ac and is located in the Commerce District. 

 
24. SPR-905, Modification #6 – Cedarcrest Additional Parking Spaces – 91 Maple Ave: Applicant 

and owner Cedarcrest Inc., proposes to add eight additional parking spaces to the south of 
their existing parking area in the northwestern corner of their site. A portion of the existing 
asphalt walkway will also be removed on the to the rear of the building. The parcel is 5 ac and 
is located in the Low Density District. 

 
25. SPR-11-18, Modification #3 – Knotty Pine Antiques Site Modifications – 96 Dunbar St: 

Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants LLC, on behalf of owner Knotty Pine Antique 
Market Inc., proposes to create a parking and vehicle storage areas for Knotty Pine Antiques 
on the properties at 96 Dunbar St (TMP #585-007-000) and 0 Cypress St (TMP #574-041-000). 
The parcel at 96 Dunbar St is 0.39 ac in size and is located in the Downtown Core District. 

 
26. SPR-07-22 – Restaurant & Patio – 21 Davis St: Applicant Euphoria Gourmet Vietnam, on 

behalf of owner 21 Davis Street LLC, proposes to operate a restaurant and create an outdoor 
patio the vacant tenant space in the building located at 21 Davis Street (TMP# 584-058-000-
000-000). The parcel is 0.18 acres in size and is located in the Downtown Core District. 
 

81 of 82



3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

(603) 352-5440
KeeneNH.gov  

January 17, 2025 

TO:  Planning Board 

FROM:  Mari Brunner, Senior Planner   

SUBJECT: Update on Minor Project Review Committee Approvals for 2024 

The following projects were reviewed by the Minor Project Review Committee (MPRC) during 
2024. 

1. SPR-876, Modification #4 – Ametek Addition – 44 Black Brook Rd: Applicant SVE Associates,
on behalf of owner NH Black Brook LLC, proposes to construct an ~9,045-sf addition to the
existing ~61,100-sf Ametek building and make associated site modifications on the property
at 44 Black Brook Rd (TMP #221-021-000). The parcel is 18.43-ac and is located in the
Corporate Park District.

2. SPR-644, Modification #2 – Parking Lot Expansion & Site Modifications – 426-428
Winchester St: Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owner TBK Realty Inc,
proposes the expansion of the existing parking lot and associated site modifications on the
property at 426-428 Winchester St (TMP #115-002-000). The parcel is 2.59 ac and is located
in the Commerce Limited District.

3. SPR-204, Modification #4 – Bergeron Mechanical Exterior Building Modifications – 216
Marlboro St: Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owner 216 Marlboro St
LLC, proposes to install painted metal siding and new unscreened rooftop units on the
Bergeron Mechanical building at 216 Marlboro St (TMP #589-016-000). The parcel is 0.97 ac
and is located in the Neighborhood Business District.

82 of 82


	2025_01_27_pb_agenda
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA
	Monday, January 27, 2025            6:30 PM                                   City Hall,
	2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Election of Chair, Vice Chair, & Steering Committee
	3) Minutes of Previous Meeting – December 16, 2024

	2024_12_16_PB_Minutes_ED Edits
	January_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	Mini Packet_141 Old Walpole Rd_2-lot Subdivision
	Application_Rec. 12-20-24
	Narrative_Rec. 12-20-24
	Exemption Requests_Rec. 12-20-24
	Subdivision Plan_REV_Rec. 01-17-25_REDUCED

	Mini Packet_0 Ashuelot St_Monadnock Conservancy_2-lot subdivision
	PB-2024-22_2 Lot Subdivision_0 Ashuelot St_Staff Report_01-17-2025
	Application_Agent signature_Received 12-19-24
	Project Narrative_Received 12-19-24
	Application_Received 12-19-2024_Part4
	0 Ashuelot Street PRoject Narrative .pdf

	Application_Received 12-19-2024_Part5

	Subdivision Plan_REV_Rec. 01-13-25_REDUCED
	Sheets and Views
	H24-007 Subd-Existing Conditions
	H24-007 Subd-Proposed Conditions



	Mini Packet_19 Ferry Brook Rd_CCSSEF SPR & CUP
	PB-2024-23_Staff Report
	Major Site Plan App_Owner Signature_Received 12-20-24
	Narrative_REV_Rec. 01-13-25
	CUP Plan_REV_Rec. 01-13-25_REDUCED
	Buffer Exhibit_Rec. 01-17-25_REDUCED
	Constructed Wetland Plan_Received 12-20-24_REDUCED
	Wetland Delineation_Received 12-20-24
	Sheets and Views
	B-SIZE


	Drainage Summary_Rec. 01-13-25
	Soil Analysis_Rec. 01-13-25

	KSC Master Plan Presentation Slides
	Memo To Mayor and Chair_January 2025
	2025 List of Minor Project Approvals in 2024
	1. SPR-876, Modification #4 – Ametek Addition – 44 Black Brook Rd: Applicant SVE Associates, on behalf of owner NH Black Brook LLC, proposes to construct an ~9,045-sf addition to the existing ~61,100-sf Ametek building and make associated site modific...
	2. SPR-644, Modification #2 – Parking Lot Expansion & Site Modifications – 426-428 Winchester St: Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owner TBK Realty Inc, proposes the expansion of the existing parking lot and associated site modi...
	3. SPR-204, Modification #4 – Bergeron Mechanical Exterior Building Modifications – 216 Marlboro St: Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owner 216 Marlboro St LLC, proposes to install painted metal siding and new unscreened rooftop...




